
 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2019 

5:40 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
 

1. FY2019 Audit Report. 
(10 Minutes) 

2. Recreation Center Usage Study. 
(45 Minutes) 

3. Bills & Payroll. 
(5 Minutes) 

  

1



    I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 

 
 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council Members 

 FROM: Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

 DATE: November 12, 2019 

 SUBJECT:FY19 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

 
Attached for your review are the following items: 
 
FY19 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report – This report includes the transmittal 
letter; the Independent Auditor’s Report; Management’s Discussion and Analysis; the 
audited financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2019; supplementary 
information; and statistical information about the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
Management Letter – This document addresses any issues that the auditors noted 
during their engagement and also provides suggestions for improvement.    
 
FY19 Information to Comply with Government Auditing Standards and Uniform 
Guidance – This report contains the Auditor’s reports on the financial information and 
internal controls as it relates to the Federal Financial Programs; a summary of the 
Auditor’s results; and the findings related to required statutory reporting.  
 
 
Upon Council approval, these reports will be filed with the State Auditor’s Office and 
sent to the appropriate agencies.  If you have any further questions regarding these 
audit reports or about our annual audit, please feel free to contact Jennifer Rodenbeck 
or myself.  
 
cc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2

Item 1.



3

Item 1.



4

Item 1.



5

Item 1.



6

Item 1.



7

Item 1.



8

Item 1.



9

Item 1.



10

Item 1.



11

Item 1.



12

Item 1.



13

Item 1.



14

Item 1.



15

Item 1.



16

Item 1.



17

Item 1.



18

Item 1.



19

Item 1.



20

Item 1.



21

Item 1.



22

Item 1.



23

Item 1.



24

Item 1.



25

Item 1.



26

Item 1.



27

Item 1.



28

Item 1.



29

Item 1.



30

Item 1.



31

Item 1.



32

Item 1.



33

Item 1.



34

Item 1.



35

Item 1.



36

Item 1.



37

Item 1.



38

Item 1.



39

Item 1.



40

Item 1.



41

Item 1.



42

Item 1.



43

Item 1.



44

Item 1.



45

Item 1.



46

Item 1.



47

Item 1.



48

Item 1.



49

Item 1.



50

Item 1.



51

Item 1.



52

Item 1.



53

Item 1.



54

Item 1.



55

Item 1.



56

Item 1.



57

Item 1.



58

Item 1.



59

Item 1.



60

Item 1.



61

Item 1.



62

Item 1.



63

Item 1.



64

Item 1.



65

Item 1.



66

Item 1.



67

Item 1.



68

Item 1.



69

Item 1.



70

Item 1.



71

Item 1.



72

Item 1.



73

Item 1.



74

Item 1.



75

Item 1.



76

Item 1.



77

Item 1.



78

Item 1.



79

Item 1.



80

Item 1.



81

Item 1.



82

Item 1.



83

Item 1.



84

Item 1.



85

Item 1.



86

Item 1.



87

Item 1.



88

Item 1.



89

Item 1.



90

Item 1.



91

Item 1.



92

Item 1.



93

Item 1.



94

Item 1.



95

Item 1.



96

Item 1.



97

Item 1.



98

Item 1.



99

Item 1.



100

Item 1.



101

Item 1.



102

Item 1.



103

Item 1.



104

Item 1.



105

Item 1.



106

Item 1.



107

Item 1.



108

Item 1.



109

Item 1.



110

Item 1.



111

Item 1.



112

Item 1.



113

Item 1.



114

Item 1.



115

Item 1.



116

Item 1.



117

Item 1.



118

Item 1.



119

Item 1.



120

Item 1.



121

Item 1.



122

Item 1.



123

Item 1.



124

Item 1.



125

Item 1.



126

Item 1.



127

Item 1.



128

Item 1.



129

Item 1.



130

Item 1.



131

Item 1.



132

Item 1.



133

Item 1.



134

Item 1.



135

Item 1.



136

Item 1.



137

Item 1.



138

Item 1.



139

Item 1.



140

Item 1.



141

Item 1.



142

Item 1.



143

Item 1.



144

Item 1.



145

Item 1.



146

Item 1.



147

Item 1.



148

Item 1.



149

Item 1.



150

Item 1.



151

Item 1.



152

Item 1.



153

Item 1.



154

Item 1.



155

Item 1.



156

Item 1.



157

Item 1.



158

Item 1.



159

Item 1.



160

Item 1.



161

Item 1.



162

Item 1.



163

Item 1.



164

Item 1.



165

Item 1.



166

Item 1.



167

Item 1.



168

Item 1.



169

Item 1.



EideBailly.

OAs & BUSINISS ADVIS0RS

October 30,2019

To the Honorable Mayor and

Members of the City Council
City of Cedar Falls, lowa

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Cedar Falls, lowa (City) as of and for the year ended June

30,2019, and have issued our report thereon dated October 30, 2019. Professional standards require that we
advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

and Government Auditing Stondords and our Compliance Audit under the Uniform Guidance

As communicated in our letter dated June 3,2OL9, our responsibility, as described by professional standards, is

to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been prepared by

management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America and to express an opinion on whether the City

complied with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Complionce Supplement that could

have a direct and material effect on the City's major federal program. Our audit of the financial statements and

major program compliance does not relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting
as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly,

as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City solely for the purpose of determining our
audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professionalstandards as it relates to the audit of the City's majorfederal
program compliance, is to express an opinion on the compliance for the City's major federal program based on

our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. An audit of major program compliance
includes consideration of internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred
to above as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and

report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, as a part of our
major program compliance audit, we considered internal control over compliance for these purposes and not to
provide any assurance on the effectiveness of the City's internal control over compliance.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not
required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to communicate to you.

Whot inspires you, inspires us. eideboilly.com

1545 Associotes Dr., Ste. 101 Dubuque, lA 52002-2299 T 563.556.1790 F 563.557.7842 EOE

1.

,->\

170

Item 1.



We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our lndependent Auditor's
Report on lnternal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Stondords dated October 30, 2019.
We have also provided our comments regarding compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred
to above and internal controls over compliance during our audit in our lndependent Auditor's Report on
Compliance with the Major Federal Program; Report on lnternal Control Over Compliance; and Report on the
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance dated october 30, 20i.9.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding lndependence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the engagement,
if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Significant Accounting Practices

Si g n if icont Accountin g Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the City is included in Note 1to the financial statements. There have
been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting policies or their
application during year ended June 30, 2019. No matters have come to our attention that would require us,

under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual
transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which
there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based
on management's current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience about
past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly
sensitlve because of their slgnificance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future
events affecting them may differ markedly from management's current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are the Incurred but not reported
health and workers' compensation liabilities, other postemployment benefits liability, and net pension liability

Management's estimates of the incurred but not reported health and workers' compensation liabilities are
based on third-party administrator's calculations and estimates. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions
used to develop the incurred but not reported liabilities in determining that they are reasonable in relation to
the financial statements taken as a whole.

Management's estimate of the other postemployment benefits liability, related deferred outflows of resources,
and OPEB expense are based on a calculation of actuarially determined contributions for health insurance
benefits. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the other postemployment benefits
balances in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

2

S i g n ifi co nt Accou nt i n g E sti m ote s

171

Item 1.



Management's estimate of the net pension liability, pension related deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources, and pension expense are based on plan level actuarial reports, allocated to the
City using annual employer contributions. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the
pension related balances in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as
a whole.

F i no ncio I Stote me nt Disc I osu res

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of
their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the City's financial
statements relate to the net pension liability and the other postemployement benefits liability.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate them

to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also communicate the

effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of transactions, account

balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. There were no corrected or uncorrected

misstatements noted in performing the audit.

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter,

whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter,

which could be significant to the City's financial statements or the auditor's report. No such disagreements arose

during the course of the audit.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated october 30, 2019.

Management's Consultations with Other Accountants

ln some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or lssues

ln the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of matters,
including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, business conditions affecting the
entity, and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None ofthe matters
discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the City's auditors.

3

Disagreements with Management

172

Item 1.



This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Mayor, City Council, and management of the
City of Cedar Falls, lowa, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
pa rties.

Sincerely,

EID E BAILLY LLP

ata tz/
Dubuque, lowa

4173

Item 1.



lnformation to Comply with Government Auditing Standards
and Uniform Guidance
June 30,2019

City of Cedar Falls, lowa

.->\
1y*

eideboilly.com

EideBail
174

Item 1.



City of Cedar Falls, lowa
Ta ble of Contents

June 30,2019

lndependent Auditor's Report on lnternal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance wilh Government Auditing
Stondords .............1

lndependent Auditor's Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; Report on lnternal Control over
Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of FederalAwards Required by Uniform Guidance...

Schedule of Expenditures of FederalAwards

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs............

3

6

7

8

175

Item 1.



EideBailly
(PAs & EUS|I{ISS ADVIS0IS

lndependent Auditor's Report on lnternal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in

Accordance with Government Auditing Stondo|ds

To the Honorable Mayor and

Members of the City Council
City of Cedar Falls, lowa

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Stondords,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggreBate remaining fund information of the City of Cedar Falls, lowa, (City) as of and for
the year ended.lune 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City's basic financialstatements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 30,
2079.

lnternal Control over Financial Reporting
ln planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements,
but not forthe purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe Clty's internalcontrol.
Accordingly, we do not express an oplnion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control.

A deficiency in internol control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A mdterial wedkness is a deficiency, or a

combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the City's financlal statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a

timely basis. A significont deJiciency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that
might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these Iimitations, during our audit we
did not identifi/ any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be materialweaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Whot in:pires you, inspires us. eideboilly.tom

1545 Associores Dr., Sre. l0l Dubuque,lA 52002-2299 T563.556.1790 t 563.557.7842

1

EOE

176

Item 1.



Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Comments involving statutory and other legal matters about the City's operations for the year ended
June 30, 2019, are based exclusively on knowledge obtained from procedures performed during our
audit ofthe financial statements ofthe City and are reported in Part lV ofthe accompanying Schedule of
Findings and Questioned Costs. Since our audit was based on tests and samples, not all transactions that
might have had an impact on the comments were necessarily audited. The comments involving
statutory and other legal matters are not intended to constitute legal interpretations ofthose statutes.

City's Response to Findings
The City's response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs. The City's response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
city's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance wilh Government Auditing stondords in considering the city's internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

a"aa , -oA1-/

Dubuq ue, lowa
October 30,2019

2177

Item 1.



EideBailly.

(PAs & 8U5lilISS ADVIS0RS

To the Honorable Mayor and

Members of the City Council
City of Cedar Falls, lowa

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Cedar Falls, lowa's (City) compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Complionce Supplement lhat could have a direct and material effect
on the City's major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2019. The City's major federal program
is identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and
conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Cedar Falls,
lowa's compliance.

Whot inspires you, inspires us. eideboilly.rom

l545 Associotes Dr., Sre. l0l Dubuque, lA 52002,2299 T563.556.1790 F 563.557.7A42 EOE

3

,z>\

lndependent Auditor's Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; Report on lnternal
Control over Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of

Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

Audito/s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the compliance for the City's major federal program based
on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America;
the standards applicable to financial audits containedin Government Auditing Stondords, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federol
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrotive Requirements, Cost Principles, ond Audit Requirements for
Federol Awords (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major
federalprogram occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City's
compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumsta nces.

178

Item 1.



Opinion on the Major Federal Program
ln our opinion, the City of Cedar Falls, lowa, complied, in all material respects, with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major
Federal program for the year ended June 30, 2019.

Report on lnternal Control over Compliance

Management of the City is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. ln planning and performing our audit
of compliance, we considered the City's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements
that could have a direct and material effect on the major federal program to determine the auditing
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
compliance for the major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over complionce exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A moteridl weokness in internol control over
complionce is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significont deficiency in internol control over complionce is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is
less severe than a materialweakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be materialweaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results ofthat testing based on the requirements of
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

4179

Item 1.



Report on the schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Cedar Falls, lowa, as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2019, and have issued our report thereon dated October 30, 2019, which contained
unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming
an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and
is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. ln
our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the financial statements as a whole.

€*-ea ,,Q

Dubuq ue, lowa
October 30, 2019

5
180

Item 1.



City of Cedar Falls, lowa
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through

Grantor/Program or Cluster Title

U.S. Department of HousinE and Urban Development
CDBG - Entitlement Grants Cluster

Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement
Grants

Housing Voucher Cluster

Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers

74.218

1,4.877

16.717

16.r-1-r- 140070300

TAP-U-1L85

(6s1)--8r-07

BROS-118s

(649)--8J-07

sTP-57-2

(28)--2C-07

19-402

78-402

DR-4289-000s-01, 125,873

S s,oal.,szo

S z2o,717 S 36,484

1,201,503

7,422,290 36,484

2,3Ls

15,250

77,565

3,928

2t,493

258,551

233,806

968,627

7,460,978

226

1,060

1,286

264

Federal

CFDA

Number

1,6.607

20.205

20.205

20.205

20.600

20.600

97.039

Pass-th rough

Entity

ldentifying

Number Expenditures

Amounts Passed-

Through to
Subrecipients

Total U.5. Department of Housing and Urban Development

U.S. Department of Justice

Joint Law Enforcement Operations
Passed through City of Waterloo, lowa

Joint Law Enforcement Operations

Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program

Total U.S. Department of Justice

U.S. Department of Transportation

Passed through lowa Department of Transportation

Highway Planning and Construction Cluster

Highway Planning and Construction

Highway Planning and Construction

Highway Planning and Construction

Passed through lowa Department of Public Safety

Highway Safety Cluster

State and Community Highway Safety

State and Community Highway Safety

Total U.S. Department of Transportation

U.S. Department of Homeland Securitv

Passed through lowa Department of Homeland Security
Hazard Mitigation Grant

Total Federal Financial Assistance s 36,484

See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 6181

Item 1.



City of Cedar Falls, lowa
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of FederalAwards

Year Ended J une 30,20L9

Note 1- Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the schedule) includes the federal award activity
of the City of Cedar Falls, lowa, (the City) under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30,
2019. The information is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations Part 200, Unilorm Administrotive Requirements, Cost Principles, ond Audit Requirements for Federal
Awords (Uniform Guidance). Because the schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City,
it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the
City.

Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported in the schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Such

expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain
types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Federal financial assistance
provided to a subrecipient is treated as an expenditure when it is paid to the subrecipient.

Note 3 - lndirect cost Rate

The City has not elected to use the 10% de minimis cost rate.

7182

Item 1.



City of Cedar Falls, lowa
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Part l: Summary of the Auditor's Results:

FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

Type of auditor's report issued

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

FEDERAL AWARDS

lnternal control over major program:
Material weaknesses identified
significant deficiencies identified not considered

to be material weaknesses

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs:

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in

accordance with Uniform Guidance 2 CFR 200 516:

ldentification of major programs:

Name of Federal Prosram

Highway Planning and Construction Cluster

Dollar threshold used to dlstinguish between type A
and type B programs:

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Unmodified

No

None Reported

Unmodified

No

CFDA umber

20.205

s750,000

Yes

8

lnternal control over financial reporting:
Materia I weaknesses identified
Significant deficiencies identified not considered

to be material weaknesses

No

None Reported

No

183

Item 1.



City of Cedar Falls, lowa
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Part ll: Financial Statement Findings:

There were no findings to report

Part lll: Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs:

There were no findings and questioned costs to report.

Part lV: Other Findings Related to Required Statutory Reporting:

Certified Budget - Disbursements during the year ended June 30,2OL9, did not exceed the
amou nt budgeted.

Questionable Expenditures - We noted no expenditures that we believe may fail to meet the

requirements of public purpose as defined in an Attorney General's opinion dated April 25, L979.

Travel Expense - No expenditures of City money for travel expenses of spouses of City officials or

employees were noted.

Bond Coverage - Surety bond coverage of City officials and employees is in accordance with

statutory provisions. The amount of coverage should be reviewed annually to ensure that the

coverage is adequate for current operations.

Council Minutes - No transactions were found that we believe should have been approved in the

Council minutes but were not.

Deposits and lnvestments - No instances of non-compliance with the deposit and investment

provisions of Chapters 128 and 12C of the Code of lowa and the City's investment policy were

noted.

2019-rA-H Revenue Loan - No instances of non-compliance with the sewer state revolving loan revenue debt

provisions were noted.

Annual Urban Renewal Repod - The annual urban renewal report was properly approved and

certified to the lowa Department of Management on or before December 1.

2019-tA-A

2019{A-B

2019-tA-C

2019-tA-F

2019-rA-G

9

2019-tA-l

2019-lA-D Business Transactions - No business transactions between the City and City officials or employees

were noted.

2019-tA-E

184

Item 1.



City of Cedar Falls, lowa
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended June 30, 2019

2019-rA-J Transfer Resolution - The City authorizes transfers between funds through the budget process.

However effective April L3, 2019, the lowa Administrative Rules Code 545-2 began requiring all

transfers of moneys between funds found in the city budget forms be approved by a fund transfer
resolution. The City did not approve a fund transfer resolution for any of its fiscal year 2019

transfers, some of which were performed afterApril t3,20L9.

Recommendation - ln the future, we recommend the City comply with lowa Administrative Rules

Code 545-2, by approving a fund transfer resolutlon.

Response - The City has already implemented this recommendation by passing a transfer

resolution in June 2019 for the FY2020 transfers.

10185

Item 1.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Recreation Division  

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Bruce Verink, Recreation Division Manager 
 
 DATE: November 13, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Recreation and Fitness Center, Operations and Facility Needs Assessment  
 
In May, the City Council approved a contract with RDG and Ballard/King to evaluate the current 
Recreation and Fitness Center to help guide the City regarding future needs we will have.  This 
study focused on the current facility located at 110 East 13th Street.   
 
The purpose of this study was to see what the metro area has to offer, to compare current fees 
and services offered by not just the Recreation and Fitness Center but by the private sector as 
well.  To look at trends around the country for programs and popular user spaces in an effort to 
guide the City in any future programing needs or possible expansion ideas.  The attached 
presentation is a culmination of the Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs 
Assessment. 
 
City staff held a number of meetings with the consultants over the last five months to assist with 
this study.  Consultants had focus group meetings with five different groups without staff present 
to gain participants thoughts and ideas.  The consultants developed a survey, which was 
available on line, and over 1,800 citizens participated.  In addition, a Town Hall meeting, open to 
the public, was held to further gather impute from citizens. The consultants toured a number of 
facilities in the metro area as well and had an in-depth tour of the current Recreation and 
Fitness Center. 
 
An overview of the study was presented to the Park and Recreation Commission at their 
monthly meeting on November 14. 
 
Attached is the presentation you will hear during the November 18 committee meeting as well 
as a copy of the Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment.  The 
eighty-eight page executive summary and the 290-page appendix is not attached but is 
available upon request. 
 
The Recreation and Fitness Center, Operations and Facility Needs Assessment report will 
provide a guide for any future expansion at the current location and/or elsewhere in the City.   
 
Please accept this report and let me know if you have any questions that you would like 
addressed at the meeting on November 18, 2019.  
 

186

Item 2.



187

Item 2.



188

Item 2.



189

Item 2.



190

Item 2.



191

Item 2.



192

Item 2.



193

Item 2.



194

Item 2.



195

Item 2.



196

Item 2.



197

Item 2.



198

Item 2.



199

Item 2.



200

Item 2.



201

Item 2.



202

Item 2.



203

Item 2.



204

Item 2.



205

Item 2.



206

Item 2.



207

Item 2.



208

Item 2.



209

Item 2.



210

Item 2.



211

Item 2.



212

Item 2.



213

Item 2.



214

Item 2.



215

Item 2.



216

Item 2.



217

Item 2.



218

Item 2.



219

Item 2.



220

Item 2.



221

Item 2.



222

Item 2.



223

Item 2.



224

Item 2.



225

Item 2.



226

Item 2.



227

Item 2.



228

Item 2.



229

Item 2.



230

Item 2.



231

Item 2.



232

Item 2.



233

Item 2.



234

Item 2.



235

Item 2.



236

Item 2.



237

Item 2.



238

Item 2.



239

Item 2.



240

Item 2.



241

Item 2.



242

Item 2.



243

Item 2.



244

Item 2.



245

Item 2.



246

Item 2.



247

Item 2.



Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
submitted by:  RDG Planning & Design  |  301 Grand Avenue  |  Des Moines, Iowa   50309  |  515.288.3141

N O V E M B E R  7 ,  2 0 1 9

248

Item 2.



This page is intentionally blank. 249

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment

table of contents

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................1
Acknowledgements .............................................................................................................................4

Current vs. Future Needs of the Center .......................................................................................................5

Trends and Future Considerations .............................................................................................................13

Summary of Community Engagement .......................................................................................................15
Community-Wide Survey Instrument .................................................................................................15
User Group Meetings .........................................................................................................................21
Town Hall Meeting .............................................................................................................................23

Observations of Operations & Municipal Organization ...............................................................................29

Recommended Building Spaces ................................................................................................................31

Market Analysis, Cedar Falls Area..............................................................................................................33

Partnerships .............................................................................................................................................81

Program Assessment ................................................................................................................................85

Appendix (under separate cover) 

250

Item 2.



This page is intentionally blank. 251

Item 2.



01

executive summary

The Cedar Falls Recreation and Fitness Center (CFRFC) works 
hard to serve its members with a wide array of strong programs 
as part of several indoor and outdoor recreation and leisure activity 
facilities offered by the City.  It does so in a building that needs to 
be updated, improved, and right-sized for the current and future 
community it serves . . . so says the community.

The Planning & Analysis Team worked directly with the Steering 
Committee to evaluate existing facilities, assess the community 
need / demand for recreation, conduct stakeholder meetings, 
facilitate a wide-reaching web-based survey, and develop the 
recommendations conveyed in this Operations & Facility Needs 
Assessment. The team collaborated closely with facility users 
and the community-at-large to reach conclusions about the 
state of the existing facilities located at 110 E. 13th Street, and 
to forecast a preferred future for this facility.  

A key component of this analysis was the intentional three-prong 
approach to community interaction. The community was at the 
center of this analysis, voicing their recommendations in the 
community-wide survey instrument, participating in user group 
meetings, and taking part in a town hall meeting which was open 
to everyone. 

Further, in this assessment the team analyzed building space 
allocation, condition of the existing facility, current usership and 
membership trends, and shared with the Committee the national 
trends in community recreation facilities. The team also learned 
from a few participants about a few operations and administrative 
matters that are discussed herein. Also key to the team’s analysis 
is a Market Analysis (included herein) that directly and specifically 
looks at the Cedar Falls area and the population the CFRFC serves. 

Collectively, the input received was extremely valuable, was 
straight-forward, and it directly informs the conclusions of 
this Study.

The Market Analysis indicates Cedar Falls has not reached a 
saturation point with activities, and further indicates fitness exercise, 
group fitness, indoor swimming, and gymnasium programming are 
being underserved. The market has opportunities.  Related, and 
looking at the current and future population in both the primary 
and secondary service areas, there is great unmet opportunity in 
the community, and much was learned in this demographic and 

from place-specific data.  These facts, combined with a flat to 
downward trend in membership over the past few years, point 
to the importance of making improvements to maintain the 
CFRFC’s position in the marketplace. 

The Market Analysis also provides valuable insight about current 
economic and demographic attributes of the community.  Historically 
Cedar Falls has grown at a modest rate, and it is expected to grow 
2.8% more over the next five years.  Some segments will grow 
much faster like the 25-44 age group which is projected to grow 
28.9% in that same time. Along with growth in the Under 5 and 
5-17 age groups this data points to an increase in families with 
children, which aligns with the focus of the CFRFC, and your 
greater community. 

The community will also see important growth in the senior age 
groups. Specifically, the 65-74 and Over 75 age groups, will see 
significant increases over the next five years.

Important take-a-ways in this Study . . . 

Global Considerations

 • Current facilities are limited and too multipurpose to well 
serve the population.

 • Membership and rates have been flat in recent years, while 
cost of operation has increased. This means the CFRFC is 
slowly losing ground for those it serves, while working hard 
to provide more with less.

Age Group Considerations

 • Developing appropriate user-friendly spaces that well 
serve persons under age 17 is very important. Currently 
the facility lacks suitable programming and functional space 
for these users and places many restrictions on when and how 
they may use the facility. This is diagrammed in the Study. 
Accommodating their needs will require both administrative 
and facility-based changes. 

 • All children’s age groups, and the 25-44 age group are 
currently underserved at the CFRFC, and these are important 
growing segments of the community.  Reaching the family 
market will require some significant changes to the 

252

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 02

executive summary

center because there are very few items for families. A 
leisure pool, indoor play structure and family locker rooms 
are the type of amenities that will help attract more families. 
Additionally, the existing child watch area lacks beneficial 
windows, openness, and visibility to attract moms / children.

 • The senior population is growing and membership at the 
CFRFC reflects this trend. Currently the center serves a 
significant senior population during the day. Finding more 
pickleball time during the winter months and enhancing the 
indoor walking track will help retain market share for this age 
group. Expanding the senior membership base will also 
require changes like having a warm water lap pool for water 
exercise and lap swimming, as this is critical to expand the 
senior membership level. 

General Use Program Spaces

 • The National Sporting Goods Association (NSGA) data no 
longer tracks racquet ball participation because the number 
of people playing has decreased over the years to the point 
where relatively few participate. In alignment with this 
national trend, the racquetball courts at the Center are 
largely underutilized and this space should strongly be 
considered for re-purposing for other recreation space and 
activity.  

 • Exercise walking is the number one recreation activity in the 
U.S. based on participation. Based on the NSGA estimates, 
there are a significant number of exercise walkers (14,229) 
in the primary service area. Although there are trails, parks 
and outdoor walking opportunities readily available, having 
a climate-controlled and safe environment is important. 
Expanding and enhancing the indoor walking track at the 
CFRFC is an important ingredient to attract people interested 
in walking in an indoor environment.  

 • Finding more group exercise space for the Center is 
necessary. Group exercise programs continue to be the 
fastest growing element of exercise in today’s marketplace. 
Participation in group exercise continues to grow and the 
existing availability of space is limiting program offerings. 
Having more space to accommodate classes is critical to keep 
pace with new fitness trends.   

 • Adding gymnasium space for accommodating more drop-
in play opportunities is critical for attracting family 
memberships and youth participation. Maintaining a 
separate gymnasium space (like the existing Fit Gym) for 
adult sport programs, youth and sport training opportunities is 
required to preserve drop-in opportunities.

 • The existing weights and fitness area in the Center is 
too densely packed with equipment for exercise. The 
administration does a wonderful job of managing this 
space, but more space is needed for safety and patron 
accommodation. Additionally, there is not enough suitable 
functional fitness space in the Center. It is at a premium 
and more space for this mode of fitness exercise of critical 
importance.

 • The existing locker rooms fail to meet the needs of 
members, and they are in dramatic need of being upgraded 
and right-sized.  Additionally, the lack of family-locker rooms 
(sometimes called Individual Locker Rooms) limits some users 
willingness to use this part of the facility. Making a change in 
this area is important. 

Aquatic Program Spaces

 • The impact of having a swimming pool cannot be 
understated. NSGA activity ranking lists swimming as the 
number three activity in participation in the country. Although 
the school district provides some programming time for City 
activities, the school pools are designed for competitive 
swimming and have little appeal for families or recreational 
swim. Additionally, access to the pools during the school year 
are very limited. The City has more access to these pools in 
the summer months but with the great success of The Falls 
Aquatic Center they have lesser value and use at that time.

 • Any discussion about an aquatic venue must reflect on 
other ongoing local area initiatives. These currently include 
replacements for current school district facilities, and potential 
new venues in association with a new school so it will be 
important to explore options for partnering with the School 
District or others about the development of a competitive 
swimming venue.  If interested in one, a competitive swim 
venue will require partnerships to share development 

253

Item 2.



03

executive summary

and operating costs. Selecting the right partnerships will be 
critically important as the City will likely need to make a “one 
or the other” decision related to a pool that is more leisure or 
competitively focused (they are quite different). 

Expansion and Renovation

 • Program offerings and membership numbers can be 
greatly improved if the CFRFC is upgraded and expanded 
. . . both quantitatively and qualitatively.  It needs this to 
provide a greater diversity of spaces (and more of it) to meet 
future needs.

 • The existing CFRFC measures 48,000 GSF, overall. It is not 
large enough to serve current member roles, nor will it 
be large enough for future participation. Based on current 
metrics and future projections the community will need a 
facility of approximately 98,000 GSF to adequately serve its 
constituents.  

 • The Cedar Falls community strongly supports the need for 
community recreation and sees important value in it. They 
have indicated a willingness to help fund necessary changes.

 • The facility can be expanded in place, if desired, with 
proper planning and minor land acquisition.  Doing so will 
be easier in association with changes currently proposed for 
Waterloo / 12th Streets. 

The collective demographic profile of the Cedar Falls 
community suggests that continued demand will exist for 
recreation and leisure activities and their related programs 
into the future, and the community strongly supports these 
activities.  The mixture of lower median age, median household 
income level, and housing budget expenditures in the community 
combine to create a favorable market condition for support of 
ongoing and long-standing community recreation at the Cedar Falls 
Recreation and Fitness Center. 

  

254

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 04

Acknowledgements

Current Members of City Council

Ward 1, Mark Miller

Ward 2, Susan DeBuhr

Ward 3, Daryl Kruse

Ward 4, Tom Blanford

Ward 5, Frank Darrah

At Large, Rob Green

At Large, David Wieland

Steering Committee for the Recreation & Fitness 
Center Assessment 

Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development

Bruce Verink, Recreation and Community Programs Manager  

Brock Goos, Recreation Supervisor

Chris Shoentag, Front Desk / Aquatics Supervisor

Mark Ripplinger, Outgoing Director of Public Works

Jamie Castle, Inspection Services Manager / Building Official

Lisa Roeding, Controller / City Treasurer

Planning & Analysis Team

RDG Planning & Design
     Jack Patton, AIA, LEED AP, Principal
     Blaine Perau, AIA, Stockholder

Ballard*King
     Jeff King, President

executive summary

255

Item 2.



05

current vs. future needs of the center

There are many indoor and outdoor venues for community 
recreation, training, competition, and leisure activities provided, 
operated, and maintained by the Recreation and Community 
Programs Division of the Community Development Department 
of the City of Cedar Falls (“Recreation Programs”). These venues 
include some that are dedicated, while others are shared. Some 
are seasonal, and others open year-round.  The current facilities 
serving these Recreation Programs include the following:

Birdsall Fields to stay consistent with other venues below.

Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center

Holmes Pool

Lions Field

Orchard Hill Park

Peet Pool

Pfeifer Springs Park

Robinson-Dresser Sports Complex

The Falls Aquatic Center

UNI Baseball Fields

Washington Ballfield

The CFRFC is surrounded by many supporting and diverse facilities for Recreation Programs.

The subject of this Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 
(“Study”) is the Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center (“CFRFC”), 
located at 110 E. 13th Street is open year-round on a membership 
and drop-in basis.

Current vs. Future Needs of the Center
The existing CFRFC is an indoor recreation facility nestled in the 
center of the community, just south of downtown.  Built in 1993 
and expanded in 2005, the 48,000 Gross Square Foot (“GSF”) 
facility serves the community with a narrow variety of indoor 
program spaces.
  
The current facilities are heavily utilized, and most every activity 
space is required to serve users in multi-functional ways, everyday.  
Currently, several of the spaces are too small to serve the number 
of occupants, several are tightly packed with equipment, and 
some spaces serve programs and activities that are simply not 
well-suited to the rooms in which they occur.  Some of these 
have less than ideal surfaces and materials for the activities, and 
others are simply too tight for full-range of motion of the activities 
they support. This Study summarizes our analysis of the existing 
facility and concludes that some improvements and changes to the 
physical facility are desirable to better serve the community.

256

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 06

current vs. future needs of the center

The primary activity areas of the existing CFRFC are as follows:
 • Gymnasium
 • Fit Gym
 • Cardio, Weights, Selectorized, & Stretching
 • Jogging / Walking Track
 • Multi-Purpose Room
 • Racquetball / Handball
 • Spin Cycle Studio
 • Games Room

Activity spaces within the existing CFRFC

Primary spaces which are undersized or do not exist in the 
current facility

* DRAFT * DRAFT * DRAFT * DRAFT * DRAFT *

 Existing Program Spaces Recommended Program Spaces
Description Qty NSF  NSF TOTAL Description QTY NSF NSF TOTAL

Recreation Spaces
Office Suite 1    1,587            1,587                  Office Suite 1      1,587       1,587                          
Control 1    200               200                     Control 1      200          200                             
Gymnasia / Courts 1    7,235            7,235                  Gymnasia / Courts 2      7,235       14,470                       
Fit Gymnasium (Auxiliary Gym) 1    4,251            4,251                  Fit Gymnasium (Auxiliary Gym) 1      4,251       4,251                          
Fit Storage 1    368               368                     Fit Storage 1      700          700                             
Cardio, Weights, Select Eq, Stretch 1    5,011            5,011                  Cardio, Weights, Select Eq, Stretch 1      9,000       9,000                          

Functional Fitness 1      1,500       1,500                          
Personal Training 1      300          300                             

Spin Cycle Studio 1    459               459                     Spin Cycle Studio 1      1,000       1,000                          
Multipuropse Room (Meetings / Activity) 1    1,408            1,408                  Multipuropse Room (Meetings / Activity) 1      1,408       1,408                          

Group Ex (Aerobics, Dance, Zumba, etc.) 1      1,250       1,250                          
Group Ex (Yoga, Mind / Body, Meditation, etc.) 1      1,250       1,250                          

Lockers (Men's) 1    600               600                     Lockers (Men's) 1      1,000       1,000                          
Lockers (Women's) 1    600               600                     Lockers (Women's) 1      1,000       1,000                          

Individual Locker Rooms 6      150          900                             
Sauna (Dry Heat) 1    82                 82                        Sauna (Dry Heat) 1      150          150                             
Steam Room (Wet Heat) 2    91                 182                     Steam Room (Wet Heat) 2      150          300                             
Massage 1    263               263                     Massage 1      263          263                             
Teens 1    971               971                     Teens 1      971          971                             
Child Minding 1    288               288                     Child Minding 1      600          600                             

Social /Lobby (all ages) 1      1,200       1,200                          
Racquetball / Handball 2    800               1,600                  Racquetball / Handball 2      800          1,600                          
Equipment Repair 1    467               467                     Equipment Repair 1      467          467                             
Loading Dock Storage Area 1    850               850                     Loading Dock Storage Area 1      850          850                             
Back-of-House Storage 1    2,650            2,650                  Back-of-House Storage 1      2,650       2,650                          
Jogging / Walking Track 1    3,301            3,301                  Jogging / Walking Track 1      6,000       6,000                          

Recreation / Leisure Pool (Natatorium) 1      9,000       9,000                          
Whirlpool / Spa 1      500          500                             
Pool Storage (Wet) 1      500          500                             
Multipurpose Wet Class / Party Room 1      750          750                             
Other, Contingency Space 1      1,000       1,000                          

Net Assignable (NSF) 32,373      66,617            
Net to Gross Ratio 68% 15,627                68% 31,383                       

Gross Building Area (GSF) Rounded 48,000  98,000      

* DRAFT * DRAFT * DRAFT * DRAFT * DRAFT *

 Existing Program Spaces Recommended Program Spaces
Description Qty NSF  NSF TOTAL Description QTY NSF NSF TOTAL

Recreation Spaces
Office Suite 1    1,587            1,587                  Office Suite 1      1,587       1,587                          
Control 1    200               200                     Control 1      200          200                             
Gymnasia / Courts 1    7,235            7,235                  Gymnasia / Courts 2      7,235       14,470                       
Fit Gymnasium (Auxiliary Gym) 1    4,251            4,251                  Fit Gymnasium (Auxiliary Gym) 1      4,251       4,251                          
Fit Storage 1    368               368                     Fit Storage 1      700          700                             
Cardio, Weights, Select Eq, Stretch 1    5,011            5,011                  Cardio, Weights, Select Eq, Stretch 1      9,000       9,000                          

Functional Fitness 1      1,500       1,500                          
Personal Training 1      300          300                             

Spin Cycle Studio 1    459               459                     Spin Cycle Studio 1      1,000       1,000                          
Multipuropse Room (Meetings / Activity) 1    1,408            1,408                  Multipuropse Room (Meetings / Activity) 1      1,408       1,408                          

Group Ex (Aerobics, Dance, Zumba, etc.) 1      1,250       1,250                          
Group Ex (Yoga, Mind / Body, Meditation, etc.) 1      1,250       1,250                          

Lockers (Men's) 1    600               600                     Lockers (Men's) 1      1,000       1,000                          
Lockers (Women's) 1    600               600                     Lockers (Women's) 1      1,000       1,000                          

Individual Locker Rooms 6      150          900                             
Sauna (Dry Heat) 1    82                 82                        Sauna (Dry Heat) 1      150          150                             
Steam Room (Wet Heat) 2    91                 182                     Steam Room (Wet Heat) 2      150          300                             
Massage 1    263               263                     Massage 1      263          263                             
Teens 1    971               971                     Teens 1      971          971                             
Child Minding 1    288               288                     Child Minding 1      600          600                             

Social /Lobby (all ages) 1      1,200       1,200                          
Racquetball / Handball 2    800               1,600                  Racquetball / Handball 2      800          1,600                          
Equipment Repair 1    467               467                     Equipment Repair 1      467          467                             
Loading Dock Storage Area 1    850               850                     Loading Dock Storage Area 1      850          850                             
Back-of-House Storage 1    2,650            2,650                  Back-of-House Storage 1      2,650       2,650                          
Jogging / Walking Track 1    3,301            3,301                  Jogging / Walking Track 1      6,000       6,000                          

Recreation / Leisure Pool (Natatorium) 1      9,000       9,000                          
Whirlpool / Spa 1      500          500                             
Pool Storage (Wet) 1      500          500                             
Multipurpose Wet Class / Party Room 1      750          750                             
Other, Contingency Space 1      1,000       1,000                          

Net Assignable (NSF) 32,373      66,617            
Net to Gross Ratio 68% 15,627                68% 31,383                       

Gross Building Area (GSF) Rounded 48,000  98,000      

Net Assignable (NSF)

Gross Building Area (GSF)  Rounded

32,373 

48,000
Net to Gross Ratio 68%              35,627

The CFRFC serves a dedicated and narrow membership and lacks 
several viable activity spaces beneficial to current and future users, 
based on current trends in community recreation and the needs of 
your community as identified herein. Most of the existing spaces 
are heavily used, while being undersized for the current population 
they serve.  If this facility seeks to serve its full potential, many of 
the building’s activity spaces are too small.  Many programs and 
activities cannot be offered in the CFRFC because space does not 
exist for them. The addition of some new spaces would allow the 
facility to better serve the community.

EXISTING /
UNDERSIZED

BENEFICIAL 
NEW SPACE

Gymnasium / Fit Gym X

Functional Fitness X

Personal Training X

Group Exercise X

Locker Rooms X

Social / Lobby X

Aquatic Space X

Whirlpool Spa X

Wet Classroom X

Games Room X

The quality of the overall facility is also considered in this analysis.  
While this building has some desirable light-filled circulation and 
activity spaces (main concourse, cardio, weights, & fit gym), it 
lacks many of the bright and open functional spaces enjoyed by 
many of its contemporary peers.  It is a durable and solid facility, 
well-worn in many places, which will benefit from some aesthetic 
and physical changes consistent with current trends in community 
recreation. This kind of improvement will allow it to serve the 
needs of the community better. The building speaks the language 
of calisthenics, better than it speaks about wellness, and this is a 
liability in the current community recreation marketplace. 

Visually compare the current physical offerings of the CFRFC to that 
of some of its peers.

(6)

257

Item 2.



07

current vs. future needs of the center

Overlook into Main Entry

Locker Rooms

Main Gymnasium (Set up for Indoor Park)

Main Entry (Fitness Center South, Ames IA)

Locker Rooms (Trail Point Aquatics & Wellness Center, Ankeny IA)

Gymnasium (SportsPlex, Waterloo IA)

EXISTING CFRFC PEER FACILITIES

Current Programs at the CFRC

258

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 08

Cardio Platform

Weights & Fitness Room

Cycling

Cardio Zone (Trail Point Aquatics & Wellness Center, Ankeny IA)

Weights & Fitness (The M.A.C., Cedar Rapids IA)

Cycling (The M.A.C., Cedar Rapids IA)

EXISTING CFRFC PEER FACILITIES

current vs. future needs of the center

259

Item 2.



09

Track

Main Level Storage Room

Track (SportsPlex, Waterloo IA)

High Density Storage, University Recreation Center

EXISTING CFRFC PEER FACILITIES

current vs. future needs of the center

260

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 010

The following program dedicated spaces are not offered in the CFRFC, however most are offered by peers 
and competitors.

PROGRAM SPACE DESCRIPTION

current vs. future needs of the center

Functional Fitness training and conditioning space.  Desire for this 
kind of indoor activity space has been high for several years and it 
continues to rise.  Current patrons at the CFRFC are using hallways 
and circulation space for this kind of exercise. 

Group Exercise studio space.  Dedicated activity rooms for small 
or large group, instructor-led group activities, with proper materials, 
finishes, and safety clearances are needed at the CFRFC.  Current 
activities like these are housed in small, poorly appointed spaces, 
with concrete and vinyl tile floors, while patrons share the space 
with tables, chairs, bookcases, and related non-activity furnishings.

Indoor Aquatics.  Some lap pools are available in satellite locations 
on a limited basis for members of the community who wish to 
swim. These are a resource that the school district shares with 
the CFRFC and most of these tanks are at or near the end of their 
serviceable life. These facilities, for the most part, are designed for 
competitive distance training and competition. These existing pools 
do not well serve family, open recreation, or leisure activities, due to 
cool temperatures, nor are they located at the CFRFC near the other 
indoor activity spaces afforded to members. 

261

Item 2.



011

PROGRAM SPACE DESCRIPTION

current vs. future needs of the center

Whirlpool Spa. This kind of warm water aquatic space serves both 
therapeutic and recreational purposes and can readily be a viable 
part of an indoor aquatic venue, broadening the offerings provided  
for recreation activity.

Wet Classroom (Multi-functional pool-side room). This can well 
support on-deck pool activities, while being a revenue generator 
from birthday parties, small group gatherings, and other rentals.

262

Item 2.



This page is intentionally blank. 263

Item 2.



013

trends and future considerations

Trends and Future Considerations 
Other highly successful community programs regularly assess 
and consider trends in the industry to forecast themselves into 
the future. This is not an exact science and must be moderated 
with clear knowledge of community-specific vision and objectives.  
This Study provides great reference for the community’s decision-
making efforts in this matter, through its summary of current 
recreation trends, community-wide survey instrument, market 
analysis, peer comparisons, partnership analysis, and more.

In addition to the breadth of the Study, we need to consider the 
community.  Cedar Falls.  Right here.  There are many influences 
on recreation and leisure activity in the local community and each 
must be considered and compared to the programs provided in the 
CFRFC, and elsewhere in your community. Consider some of these 
unique and important nuances.  

In the Cedar Falls community . . . 
 • Growth of traditional and boutique fitness providers.  
By rough measure there are at least 40 different small and 
large providers of recreation and fitness venues in Cedar 
Falls, with more in adjoining communities.  The growth of 
boutique facilities (small, direct to consumer purveyors) has 
both positively impacted nationwide wellness and negatively 
impacted the number of persons who might otherwise become 
members at the CFRFC. 

 • Cedar Falls Downtown Visioning Plan (“Vision Plan”).  At 
the time of authoring this Study, the Vision Plan is currently 
being crafted and is expected to soon be released. The 
conclusions of this plan, its impact on Cedar Falls roadways, 
and local area recreation will be impactful on the next steps of 
planning for the CFRFC.

 • Location & Adjacent Land Opportunities.  The CFRFC is 
located south of downtown proper, however it has great 
access to primary arterial roadways immediately adjacent to 
the facility and is partly surrounded by some land currently 
owned by the City. Expansion of this facility, in place, is 
possible, thereby maintaining the great location enjoyed by 
the CFRFC.

 • Cedar Falls is a University town.  The demographics change 
based upon the academic calendar of the University of 
Northern Iowa. This consideration is important as this ever-
changing nature of the community population informs how the 
community might be best served at the CFRFC.  

 • Initiatives. In recent years, several community-wide initiatives 
have been created with important focus on improving the 
quality of life and maintaining or improving a high level of 
wellbeing for the Cedar Falls community. Initiatives like 
BlueZone, CFRFC going forward. Leverage these and other 
hallmark moments of the community!

 • Metropolitan area. While Cedar Falls is the focus of this Study 
(and it holds the primary membership base for the CFRFC), 
the offerings and culture of the larger metropolitan area that 
includes Waterloo, Evansdale, Hudson, Dike, New Hartford, 
and Janesville must also be considered. Individuals from these 
areas are part of the membership base, and the community 
is exposed to the recreational and leisure activity offerings of 
these other adjacent communities.

264

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 014

trends and future considerations

Destination Venues

Developing Sports 

Social Environment

Multipurpose Facilities 

Functional Fitness

Openness & TransparencyIntegrated Wellbeing

Current Facility Trends in Community Recreation Facilities
Nationally, towns and communities like Cedar Falls are engaged 
in providing facilities and services to their constituents, promoting 
healthy activity and overall wellbeing.  In these facilities, various 
trends are evident, nationwide. 

265

Item 2.



015

summary of community engagement

The Planning & Analysis Team for the Study intentionally took a three-part approach to involve community stakeholders. Community 
members were engaged with wide-reaching tools (a community-wide survey instrument), direct, open, and extended conversations (User 
Group meetings), and in an open public forum (Town Hall Meeting).  Anecdotal and statistically relevant data was gathered from these 
interactions and used in the assessment.

Community-Wide Survey Instrument
Metrics

 • 1,855 responses collected
 • Survey available on-line from August 12 – August 31, 2019

60

50

40

30

20

10

0
0-5          6-17                 18-24            25-44     45-54              55-64                  65-74       75+

Survey Respondents (Age Group Compare to Population)

Respondents Population

266

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 016

summary of community engagement

What We Learned about Current Spaces and Other Spaces of Interest

Comparing the spaces most used by Heavy Users (those that 
use them more than once per week), the top four remain in 
the highest category, and the following three come into near 
alignment with the aggregate total. These seven spaces are 
clearly the most heavily used in the CFRFC, in the aggregate.

Showing the relative use of each program space by gender, you see some typical gender-based responses. It is important to note 
however that the top four most used spaces are the same across all users. The responses get more diverse beyond the top four.

Respondents provided good overall data for analysis in this 
Study. From this chart, based on the response “No Opinion,” 
it is easy to see that many of the respondents are not familiar 
with or do not use many of the program spaces in the building.  
Subsequent charts in this Study have eliminated the “No 
Opinion” component in many areas of analysis.

(5) Fully meets my needs

(4) Mostly meets my needs

(3) Suitable

(2) Mostly does not meet my needs

(1) Fails to meet my needs

No Opinion

Massage Room

Child Watch Room

Indoor Park

Spin Cycle Studio

Steam Room

Game Room

Racquetball

Sauna

Multipurpose Room

Group Exercise

Cardio Row / Loft

Gym Space

Locker Room

Cardio/Weights

Track

Cardio/Weights

Track

Locker Room

Gym Space

Cardio/Weights

Track

Gym Space

Locker Room

Cardio/Weights

Track

Gym Space

Locker Room

Cardio/Weights

Gym Space

Track

Locker Room

Cardio Row/Loft

Sauna

Group Exercise

Spin Cycle Studio

Multipurpose Rm

Steam Room

Racquetball

Child Watch Room

Game Room

Indoor Park

Massage Room

Group Exercise

Cardio Row / Loft

Multipurpose Rm

Spin Cycle Studio

Sauna

Indoor Park

Game Room

Child Watch Room

Racquetball

Steam Room 

Massage Room

Cardio Row / Loft

Sauna

Racquetball

Steam Room

Group Exercise

Multipurpose Rm

Game Room

Spin Cycle Studio

Child Watch Room

Massage Room

Indoor Park

Sauna

Cardio Row / Loft

Group Exercise

Spin Cycle Studio

Racquetball

Multipurpose Rm

Game Room

Steam Room

Child Watch Room

Indoor Park

Massage Room

Please indicate your opinions about each of the following current program spaces

Please identify the four existing program spaces you currently use the most

Please indentify the four existing program spaces you currently use the most

All Responses All Respondents

All Respondents She / Her / Hers He / Him / His They / Them / Theirs

Heavy Users

Physial Improvement Needs

Alignment among your
most frequent users

Top 4 spaces
same across

all genders

0     200    400    600   800   1000   1.2k   1.4K  1.6k 0%   10%  20%  30%   40%   50%   60%  70%   80%

0%   10%  20%  30%   40%   50% 0%   10%  20%  30%   40%   50%   60%   70% 0%   10%  20%  30%   40%   50%   60%   

267

Item 2.



017

summary of community engagement

This chart compares spaces identified by respondents as having an interest to increase or expand program spaces (left chart), 
with those in a rank order of the “top four needs” for increased or expanded program space (right chart).  There is good clarity 
about the spaces that promote the highest interest for respondents. 

When respondents considered a wide variety of program spaces (including some not currently available in the CFRFC, but 
otherwise available elsewhere it the metropolitan area) two spaces were identified by most respondents as being of interest for 
consideration as new spaces at / in the CFRFC.

Indoor Leisure Pool

Cardio/Weights

Track

Rock Climbing

Locker Room

Gym Space

Group Exercise

Indoor Leisure Pool

Cardio/Weights

Track

Rock Climbing

Locker Room

Gym Space

Group Exercise

Indoor Turf

Community Events

ChildWatch Room

Sauna

Spin Cycle Studio

Lobby/Social

Indoor Park

Steam Room

Racquetball

eSports

Indoor Leisure Pool

Cardio/Weights

Locker Room

Track

Group Exercise

Gym Space

Rock Climbing

I prefer not to answer

Indoor Turf

Spin Cycle Studio

Sauna

Child Watch Room

Community Events

Steam Room

Lobby / Social

Indoor Park

Racquetball

eSports

Indoor Turf

Community Events

Child Watch Room

Sauna

Spin Cycle Studio

Lobby/Social

Indoor Park

Steam Room

Racquetball

eSports

Please indicate your opinions about each of the following current program spaces

Please indicate your opinions about each of the following current program spaces

Simple Majority

Percentage Sort

First time this space shows up. Much support.

First time this space shows up. Much support.

First time this space shows up. Good support.

First time this space shows up. No support.

Q18: Top 4

0%  10%   20%  30%  40%  50%    

Increase or Expand?

Increase or Expand?
Percentage Sort

268

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 018

summary of community engagement

Lastly in this chart sequence, a majority of respondents agree or strongly agree that they would be willing to pay reasonable 
increased fees to cover the cost of construction and / or operation expenses for the spaces most needed or in need of improvement 
at the CFRFC.

Group Exercise

Gym Space

Rock Climbing

Prefer not to answer

Indoor Turf

Spin Cycle Studio

Sauna

Child Watch Room

Community Events

Steam Room

Lobby / Social

Indoor Park

Racquetball

eSports

Indoor Leisure Pool

Cardio/Weights

Locker Room

Track

Regarding only these four program spaces, please rate your level of agreement with the following statement. I would be
willing to pay reasonable additional or increased fees to cover the cost of construction and / or operation expenses for them.

0%  10%  20%  30%  40%  50% 

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Q18 Q19 

55% of respondents Agree or Strongly Agree that they would 
be willing to pay reasonable increased  fees to cover the cost of 
construction and / or operation expenses

0%       10%       20%        30%       40%        50%       60%       70%      80%      90%    100%           

269

Item 2.



019

summary of community engagement

General Questions Posed to All Respondents
Several important foundational questions were posed to all respondents to gauge their interest in recreation and leisure activities and 
facilities, to gauge the interest for differing societal segments, and the overall need for appropriate facilities.

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neutral

Disagree

Strongly Disagree

90% of respondents Agree or Strongly Agree that it is 
valuable to them to have an indoor community recreation 
& fitness center

85% of respondents Agree or Strongly Agree that a 
community recreation & fitness center boosts property 
values in your community

72% of respondents Agree or Strongly Agree that your 
community needs more indoor recreation and fitness space 
for Youth & Teens

74% of respondents Agree or Strongly Agree that your 
community needs more indoor recreation and fitness 
space for all

61% of respondents Agree or Strongly Agree that your 
community needs more indoor recreation and fitness space 
for our Seniors

76% of respondents Agree or Strongly Agree that your 
community needs higher quality space, for everyone

It is valuable to me to have an indoor community recreation & fitness center

Our community needs more indoor recreation and fitness space for YOUTH & TEENS Our community needs more indoor recreation and fitness space for EVERYONE

Our community needs more indoor recreation and fitness space for our SENIORS Our community needs HIGHER-QUALITY indoor recreation and fitness space for EVERYONE

0%      10%      20%       30%       40%       50%       60%      70%      80%      90%     100%           

0%      10%      20%       30%       40%       50%       60%      70%      80%      90%     100%           

0%      10%      20%       30%       40%       50%       60%      70%      80%      90%     100%           

0%      10%      20%       30%       40%       50%       60%      70%      80%      90%     100%           

0%      10%      20%       30%       40%       50%       60%      70%      80%      90%     100%           

0%      10%      20%       30%       40%       50%       60%      70%      80%      90%     100%           

270

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 020

summary of community engagement

What We Learned from Former Members
One track of the survey instrument gathered data from community individuals who previously were members of the CFRFC but are no 
longer members.  Information from this cohort is revealing as to facility matters related to the quality and quantity of spaces in the CFRFC 
when these members chose to depart.

Please identify the main reasons you terminated your membership. Choose no more than THREE (3).

What attributes of the other facility draw you to use it instead of the Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center? Mark all that apply.

0%      10%       20%      30%       40%       50%        60%       70%      80%        90%     100% 

0%      10%       20%      30%       40%       50%        60%       70%      80%        90%     100% 

Too small/
crowded

Member 
cost too high

Prog / Classes 
not liked 

Could not use 
when wanted

Equipment was 
poor

Fees were 
excessive

Hours of 
Operation

Child Watch
Hours

Disagreed / 
Disliked Staff

Better Prog 
&  Classes

Newer Equipment

HQ Physical
Space 

Hours 
of operation

Lower cost

Preferred location

Better   
instructors

Cleanliness

These are facility issues

These are facility issues

271

Item 2.



021

summary of community engagement

Patrons who terminated their membership at the CFRFC 
matriculated into these local-area facilities, in descending order of 
frequency.

 • 22%  Planet Fitness

 • 20%  Fit / NLXF (f/k/a Key West)

 • 11%  UNI WRC

 • 9%  SportsPlex

 • 7%  YMCA

 • 4%  360 Fitness

 • 5%  AMF, Ashley Maginnis Fitness

 • 3%  Joywheel Cycling Studio

What We Learned
The survey instrument provided clear and definitive response to 
the questions posed and enjoyed a moderate to high response rate.  

This provides important and compelling data on which to make 
informed decisions, in a format that is easy to understand.

The data conveys strong community support for indoor recreation 
services, and a request / willingness for better space for these 
activities. The survey identifies that both quality and quantity 
of space is important to the community. They identify that good 
recreation space brings value to the community, positively impacts 
their property values, and from these we can infer it brings a higher 
quality of life. 

The survey provided some surprises, too. The biggest were around 
the desire for indoor leisure pool / aquatic areas and rock-climbing 
space.  Both activity spaces appear to be under-served in the 
community. 

User Group Meetings
These groups were identified and assembled by City staff for direct 
discussion with the Planning & Analysis Team, in small group 
formats. Intentionally, staff did not attend these discussions to 
allow free and open interaction by all those assembled. A record 
of each discussion can be found in the Appendix.  A similar line of 
inquiry and discussion was posed to each group to bring about a 
comparable understanding of the existing CFRFC, its programs, its 
strengths, and weaknesses.

User Groups
 • Rec Staff / Users
 • Recreation Users
 • Seniors
 • Healthcare & Wellness Partners
 • Organized Sport Groups and Parents

User Group Participation
 • 5 different groups
 • 31 total participants (40+ invited)
 • All participants were Members
 • Participants spoke freely and with good candor
 • More than 90% of participants > 30 years of age.
 • Approximately 35% were seniors
 • No youth participated, nor were they directly represented

Common Themes
Those gathered for User Groups came from different parts of the 
community, with differing perspectives on the operation of the 
CFRFC and the programs spaces within it.  Common to each group 
were the following concerns about insufficient space for many 
programs . . .

 • Gymnasium is so multi-purpose (open rec, events, pickleball, 
indoor park, and more) that it cannot readily serve any of these 
programs well.  Too much shared use.

 • Acoustic separation from the main corridor and toilet rooms 
is insufficient for many activities (Yoga, Mind/Body, meetings, 
and more) to occur in the Multipurpose Room.

 • The space serving Child Watch is too small, cramped, 
windowless, and not well suited for the programs that are 
wedged into this small space (formerly a storage room).

272

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 022

summary of community engagement

 • Locker Rooms. Most all commented about the cramped 
confines of these rooms and the inappropriate materials and 
surfaces within them (like carpeting).

 • Not enough space overall. While space demand varies from 
group to group, all user groups spoke to the need for more 
programs (whether it was team meeting space, more open 
hours for families, more physical access for individuals under 
age 16, or other things unique to their programs). 

Each of the user groups had important observations about the use 
of the building and the programs within it.  They all like to use the 
CFRFC and most see a preferred future for the building where there 
is space for the things they use in the building, or for others.

Many existing spaces in the CFRFC are too small and densely 
packed with participants. 

LOWER LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL

Shaded spaces are restricted to individuals 16 years of age, and older. What’s a kid to do?

STORAGE

STORAGE

OFFICES

SPINEQUIP
REPAIR

WEIGHT 
TRAINING

MULTI-PURPOSE

TRACK

LEGEND

  Restricted Use            Non-Restricted Use

TRACK

CARDIO

CARDIO

273

Item 2.



023

summary of community engagement

Operational Consideration
One fascinating observation from user groups and the Steering 
Committee relates to the operational decision constricting locations 
for activities of younger persons within the CFRFC.  This constriction 
conflicts directly with the primary belief (expectation?) that this 
building is a family-friendly one.  Consider in the following diagram 
all the areas in the CFRFC restricted for use by individuals 16 years 
of age and older.  This diagram explains why we heard so frequently 
that “our kids say there is nothing they can do at the CFRFC.”  

Town Hall Meeting
A town hall meeting was conducted on September 4, 2019, from 
7:00 – 8:30 PM.  Participants were greeted by multiple interactive 
stations to discuss the current facility, identify likes and dislikes 
about it, to learn about and discuss trends in community recreation, 
see imagery of programs and spaces at peer facilities, and to 
openly share their opinions about the areas of focus addressed 
in this Study.  Attendance peaked in the first 30 minutes, and 
most participants participated for 30 – 45 minutes, freely moving 
between stations.

14

12

10

8

6

4

2

0
0-18          18-29         30-39          40-49       50-59          60-69 70-79        80-89

Town Hall Attended (Age Groups)

The Big Idea panel shown below was createdd during the Town Hall Meeting, and all annotations were posted by attendees. 
Here they shared big visions for the facility (and in some cases much more detailed observations).

274

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 024

summary of community engagement

Visualization Station with images of 
Peer & Competitor program spaces

Floor plans of the existing facility 
were used to record in writing the 
opinions of participants, related to the 
successful and not-so-successful parts 
of the CFRFC.

Participants voted with green dots for 
the three spaces they feel are most 
important for the CFRFC, and voted 
with three red dots for those spaces that 
are unnecessary. Several participants 
chose to withhold placing any red dots!

Metrics
50 participants who skewed into middle and older age groups 
attended the event.

Common Themes
There was excitement when viewing images of peer and 
competitor’s facilities.  Participants could see what’s possible!

Facility-focused comments expressing concern (shortcomings, 
inadequate space, and need for updating and improvements) 
about the existing CFRFC dramatically outnumbered affirmative 
comments. They see many places where improvement is warranted.

Most every participant expressed opinions about how and why 
to expand the facility, seeking more and better use of spaces in 
the building.

Opinions about current building operations and programs were 
also expressed, most often out of concern for having enough space 
(pickleball, children’s activities, room schedules, who is assigned to 
which space, and related topics).

Participants displayed great interest in talking about the CFRFC and 
the ways in which they use (and wish to use) the facility.  

275

Item 2.



025

summary of community engagement

During the Town Hall Meeting participants were asked to identify 
their three (3) most and three (3) least favorite program spaces 
for consideration at the CFRFC.  They voiced their opinion with 
green dots (desired) and red ones (undesired) as they placed 
those directly on images displayed that evening.  The images 

depicted well designed recreation spaces, some of which are like 
those offered today at the existing CFRFC and other ones as part 
of a preferred future. The following graphic summary conveys 
the aggregate opinion of participants related to a wide variety of 
relevant recreation spaces and offerings.

276

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 026

summary of community engagement

277

Item 2.



027

summary of community engagement

278

Item 2.



This page is intentionally blank. 279

Item 2.



029

observations of operations & municipal organization

The Planning & Analysis Team heard several impactful comments 
and opinions from community users of the CFRFC.  Some were 
broad stroke while other comments were very granular. We’ve 
shared them here and discussed these items with the Steering 
Committee, so these comments find a home with the administrators 
and policy-makers of the CFRFC.

What does the CFRFC want to be?
 • Is the CFRFC a community center or a senior center?  The 
age demographics (by both visual observation and statistical 
analysis) skews to a middle age and older population. 
Membership does not reflect those younger in age, more 
reflective of a family-oriented center.  There are many 
considerations that create this condition.  

The CFRFC is trying to be everything to everybody. 
 • The very multipurpose nature of the facility is not sustainable. 
It creates ill will in patrons and members who get ‘booted off’ 
the gym court when the format of the space needs to change, 
and for patrons who are asked to exercise in sub-standard 
activity spaces.  

Total Building Space Inventory
 • There is not enough space overall. People are exercising in 
the corridors, office space is ‘given up’ for consultations, and 
some areas are busting at the seams.  It does not appear that 
the CFRFC can meet the community’s needs without more 
physical space.

Aquatics.  
 • There is much demand in the community for aquatic activity, 
and  the current pools are located off-site in satellite facilities, 
operate in off-hours from peek demand, and are near the end 
of their serviceable life. Wherever possible, peer communities  
strive to locate their pools in the recreation center, proper.  The 
current situation is not sustainable for the CFRFC.

 • As the City considers the benefits and drawbacks of new 
aquatic facilities (whether located at the CFRFC or elsewhere) 
there are many rules-of-thumb and important considerations 
related to pool ownership and operation that must be 
evaluated. Some of these are as follows:

 » The capital construction cost for the aquatic portion of a 
recreation center is two to three times the cost of similarly 
sized dry space in the same facility. 

 » The operational cost for a pool is significant, especially 
for the HVAC system. Once this system is turned on and 
commissioned, it is never really turned off. It sill runs in 
regular operation mode, whether the pool or natatorium is 
occupied or not (using energy the entire time). This means:  
24/7/365. 

 » In the big picture, the City currently has lap swimming 
and competition pools for their use only on a limited basis. 
They also have a wonderful outdoor aquatic center (The 
Falls Aquatic Center) which only operates seasonally each 
summer. What’s missing in this equation is an indoor 
warmer-water leisure and recreation swimming venue.

Customer Service.  
 • A few participants in user groups said they had previously 
experienced what they described as poor customer service at 
the front desk. This information came from a small minority of 
those we spoke with, and we cannot substantiate how or why 
they had these experiences, or the full situation surrounding 
it.  We discuss this here to a) be transparent about what 
we heard from users, and b) so the information is available 
in this analysis. Customer services is ever important, and 
there is nothing we observed or otherwise heard during our 
analysis that leads us to believe these are other than isolated 
experiences. 

Space schedule, and patrons’ awareness of it
 • Perhaps tied to the matters described at the front desk, many 
people noted they find it very difficult to know when specific 
building spaces are available, and for which programs. 
This is exacerbated by the multipurpose nature in many of 
the building spaces.  Strong consideration of web-based 
scheduling and building signage for information about room 
schedules is warranted.

Staff Oversight in Gymnasium
 • We heard several requests for added observation and oversight 
in the gymnasium, especially from parents of younger 
members. Conflicts about room schedules seem to be solved 

280

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 030

by yielding to whoever is older.  In other words, some of your 
patrons are getting booted from spaces while the clock says 
the space is still theirs.

observations of operations & municipal organization

281

Item 2.



031

recommended building spaces program summary

In consideration of the aggregate data gathered during our analysis, 
we recommend expanding the CFRFC  to meet current and future 
needs. Many spaces need to be relieved of their multi-purpose 
designation and made more appropriate for the specific activities 
they support.  Some spaces are simply worn out, others are just 
too tight and just need to be right-sized.  It is an appropriate time 
to reflect on current use and demand, contemporary trends, and 
current demographics of Cedar Falls. 

Crafting an improved facility with these attributes will allow the 
City to well serve its community with appropriate and beneficial 
recreational and leisure facilities.  Doing so also brings the CFRFC up 
to par with the many other great offerings afforded the community 
in the Cedar Falls area.

Building Program Spaces EXISTING FUTURE
Description Qty NSF  NSF TOTAL QTY NSF NSF TOTAL

Recreation Spaces

Office Suite (6 persons) 1 1,587 1,587 1,587
Control 1 200 200 200

Expand Gymnasia / Courts 1 7,235 7,235 2 7,235 14,470
Fit Gymnasium (Auxiliary Gym) 1 4,251 4,251 4,251

Expand Fit Storage 1 368 368 1 700 700
Expand Cardio, Weights, Select Eq, Stretch 1 5,011 5,011 1 9,000 9,000

New Functional Fitness 1 1,500 1,500
New Personal Training 1 300 300

Expand Spin Cycle Studio 1 459 459 1 1,000 1,000
Multipuropse Room (Meetings / Activity) 1 1,408 1,408 1,408

New Group Ex (Aerobics, Dance, Zumba, etc.) 1 1,250 1,250
New Group Ex (Yoga, Mind / Body, Meditation, etc.) 1 1,250 1,250

Replace Lockers (Men's) 1 600 600 1 1,000 1,000
Replace Lockers (Women's) 1 600 600 1 1,000 1,000

New Individual Locker Rooms 6 150 900
Replace Sauna (Dry Heat) 1 82 82 1 150 150
Replace Steam Room (Wet Heat) 2 91 182 2 150 300

Massage 1 263 263 263
Teens 1 971 971 971

Replace Child Minding 1 288 288 1 600 600
New Social /Lobby (all ages) 1 1,200 1,200

Racquetball / Handball 2 800 1,600 1,600
Equipment Repair 1 467 467 467
Loading Dock Storage Area 1 850 850 850
Back-of-House Storage 1 2,650 2,650 2,650

Expand Jogging / Walking Track 1 3,301 3,301 1 6,000 6,000
New Recreation / Leisure Pool (Natatorium) 1 9,000 9,000
New Whirlpool / Spa 1 500 500
New Pool Storage (Wet) 1 500 500
New Multipurpose Wet Class / Party Room 1 750 750
New Other, Contingency Space 1 1,000 1,000

Net Assignable (NSF) 32,373 66,617
Net to Gross Ratio 68% 15,627 68% 31,383

Gross Building Area (GSF) Rounded 48,000 98,000

282

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 032

recommended building spaces program summary

The current property around the existing CFRFC is limited in area 
in three directions with minimal building setbacks from adjacent 
roadways and other public rights-of-way. If the building is to be 
expanded in-place more land beyond the current perimeter will be 
required, for both building and other site improvements, including 
parking.  

Currently to the south there are City-owned parcels in the 
residential neighborhood across 13th Street, totaling about 21,000 
SF*.  To the east, the City’s Downtown Vision Plan presents an idea 
on redevelopment of Waterloo Road and 12th Street (and more) and 
the vehicular connection of this area to the highway (southeast).  
This redevelopment creates a great opportunity to expand the 
CFRFC, in-place.  The Downtown Vision Plan calls this a “What if 
. . .” scenario in their Vision, and as expressed in the plan, “this 
arrangement creates new, buildable, and more usable land for 
the Recreation Center (CFRFC).”  It creates great opportunity for 
a higher quality of life for the entire neighborhood adjacent to this 
redevelopment. 

Imagine Downtown
September 2019 Internal Review Draft

57

h i j i k lE � � � u w � / f t / u q q � � | f q ~ � [ f r E � u r : � / r E o � � E { f E E � o : / u q q r � : [ E � � | q � f o r u w : f q E � f E E � u r u r f : � u w � � $ o � $ $ [ ± : $ q $ : w � o f� u w � � r { � � [ � : � u o $ : ~ � : E � » � u r / u q q o � | $ : : � | E E � � : � u w � � $ o � $ $ [ : $ o E � f : [ r $ s E � $ z m f E � o q $ $ f : [ u ~ { o $ � � � $ E � { � [ � r E o u f :f : [ ~ $ o � s r � f � q � q f : [ z $ o E � � ` � | o � f E u $ : P � : E � o � » � u r u q q s r E o f E u � � [ o f / u : w r � $ / r r � � � o f q { $ E � : E u f q : � / � s u q [ u : w r f q $ : w¾ � E � W m f E � o q $ $ ½ E o � � E r } ~ $ o � { f o x u : w } f : [ : � / r E o � � E f : [ { � [ � r E o u f : | $ : : � | E u $ : r � ¬ r � � { f w � � ³ ®


Graphic excerpt from “Imagine Downtown” September 2019 
draft, used with permission

Site Blocking Diagram & Test Fit for an expanded CFRFC

Parking

ParkingExpansionCFRFC

Total area of existing property ....................................................................... 132,821 SF (3.05 Acres) *
Total area required for an in-place expansion of the CFRFC ............................. 169,851 SF (3.9 Acres) *
Total area of the redeveloped block, shown in the following graphic excerpt ... 191,851 SF (4.4 Acres) *

* More or less, as these measures are not based on engineers survey documents

283

Item 2.



033

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 1 

Section I – Executive Summary  

Background:  
 
RDG Planning & Design (RDG) along with Ballard*King & Associates (B*K) were hired to conduct an Operations & Facility Needs 
Assessment of the Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center (CFRFC), to assess existing recreation facilities, analyze programming, and 
develop recommendations.  The primary objectives in this study was to assess existing facilities, assess the community need and 
demand for recreation, conduct a demographic review of the service area, assess overall market conditions, conduct stakeholder 
meetings, conduct a web-based survey and develop a recommendation to help guide the Cedar Falls Recreation and Programs in the 
future.  
   
 
Market Condition Review: 
 
The Cedar Falls primary service area was established for this study. The population within this service area is growing at a modest 
pace and is projected to grow about 2.8% over the next five years to reach a population of 42,374 people by the year 2024. There is 
a higher concentration in the 18-24 age category than the national level, and this is consistent when a college / university is located 
in the primary service area. There are some age categories below the national level that raise a concern. Specifically, the 25-44 age 
group and the associated age groups of under 5 and 5-17 age groups are all below the national level. This impact is further validated 
by the number of households with children. The level of households with children is 24.8%, which is over 8% lower than the national 
level and almost 6% lower than the state of Iowa level. However, it should be noted that there are some encouraging signs with these 
age groups. The 25-44 age group is projected to grow 28.9% over the next five years and the along with increases in the under 5 and 
5-17 age groups. This points to an increase in families with children. 
 
Another notable market condition is the estimated growth in the senior age groups. The 65-74 and over 75 age groups, specifically, 
will see significant increases over the next five years. The 18-24 age category is also significant, but this demographic group will have 
little impact on the Cedar Falls Recreation and Fitness Center because the facilities and programs available to students on the UNI 
campus. 
 
Based on the National Sporting Goods Association data, age and household income are two determining factors that drive participation 
in recreation and leisure activities. The demographic profile suggests that there will be continued demand for recreation activities and 
programs in the future. The mixture of lower median age, median household income level and housing budget expenditures combine 
to create a favorable market condition for support of community recreation.  
 
There has been a flat to downward trend in membership at the Cedar Falls Recreation and Fitness Center over the past few years 
which points to the importance of making some improvements and renovations to maintain its position in the marketplace.  
 
Statistics from the National Sporting Goods Association (NSGA) were overlaid on to the demographic profile of the service areas to 
determine the market potential for various activities. The market analysis concluded that Cedar Falls has not reached a saturation 
point with some activities including fitness exercise, group fitness opportunities, indoor swimming and gymnasium programming is 
underserved. Exercise walking is the number one ranked activity by participation levels and represents approximately 14,299 people 
in the primary service area. Seniors, ages 55 and over, account for about 26% of the population in the primary service area.  
 

 

There has been a flat to downward trend in membership at the Cedar Falls Recreation and Fitnss Center over the past 
few years which points to the imporatnce of making some improvements and renovations to maintain its position in the 
marketplace.

284

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 034

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 2 

Facility Impact: 

RDG conducted an assessment on the CFRFC. The assessment was an on-site observation of the existing conditions of the facility, the 
site, interior finishes, and programming function.  
 
Based on the NRPA benchmarking, the CFRFC is at or near benchmark levels cited in their 2016 NRPA Report (see below).  The CFRFC 
is deficient in most of the facility types when using that as a benchmark. 
 
The success of most recreation centers is dependent on meeting the recreational needs of many varied individuals.  The fastest 
growing segment of society in Cedar Falls is the senior population.  Given current demographic trends in the community, meeting the 
needs of this group is especially important both now and, in the future.  Currently, the CFRFC is capturing a significant portion of senior 
fitness programming. Insurance based programs such as Silver Sneakers, Silver, and Fit are changing the landscape for senior fitness. 
Many seniors gravitate to facilities that provide these programs. Indoor walking tracks, exercise areas, warm water pools and 
classroom spaces are important to this age group.  Marketing to the younger more active senior (usually age 55-70) is paramount, as 
this age group has the available free time to participate in leisure activities, the desire to remain fit, and more importantly the disposable 
income to pay for these services. 
 
One of the areas of greatest participant growth over the last 10 years was fitness related activities such as exercise with equipment, 
aerobic exercise and group cycling.  These are also program spaces that have the most competition for alternative service providers. 
The quality and volume of weight and cardio equipment is roughly appropriate for the center except for needing a larger free weight 
and stretching area, along with more functional fitness space. In addition, the growth in group exercise programs and trends around 
these programs suggest another dedicated group exercise space is needed. It is significant that many of the fitness related activities 
that can take place in an indoor recreation setting are ranked in the top fifteen in overall participation by the National Sporting Goods 
Association. Emphasis on fitness related programming and spaces to support it should continue being a high priority of the Cedar Falls 
Recreation and Fitness Center as this plays a key role in attracting memberships.    
 
 
Based on the NRPA benchmarking, the CFRFC is at or near the benchmark levels cited in the 2016 NRPA Field Report  
 

NRPA Level of Service (LOS) 

NRPA Standard 1,000 
Population Facility by Type NRPA LOS City Owned  

Community Wide (non-
City owned)  

1/30,000 Community Center 1.37 1 0 

1/26,650 Recreation Center 1.54 1 0 

1/26,418 Gymnasium 1.56 2 23 

1/49,500 Senior Center .83 1 0 

1/49,715 Indoor Track .83 1 0 

1/34,686 Outdoor Pool 1.18 1 0 

 
 
 
 
 

285

Item 2.



035

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 3 

Recommendation: 

Although there are several other recreation and fitness providers in the primary service area, the existing inventory of facilities and 
programs offered through at the CFRFC are clearly not meeting all the community recreation needs. Based on NRPA national standards, 
information gathered during the community input process, analysis of existing programs, market analysis and staff input, we have 
several recommendations. 
 
1. The senior population is growing and membership at the CFRFC reflects this trend. Clearly the center serves a significant senior 

population during the day. Finding more pickleball time during the winter months and enhancing the indoor walking track will 
help retain market share for this age group. Expanding the senior membership base will require having a warm water lap pool 
for water exercise and lap swimming is critical to expand the senior membership level.  

2. The population for all children’s age groups, and the 25-44 age group is increasing. This market segment is currently underserved 
at the CFRFC. Reaching the family market will require some significant changes to the center because there are very few items 
for families. A leisure pool, indoor play structure and family locker rooms are the type of amenities that will help attract more 
families. The existing child watch area lacks windows, openness, and visibility to attract moms / children. 

3. NSGA data no longer tracks racquet ball participation because the number of people playing has decreased over the years and 
there are relatively few participating. The racquetball courts in the center are largely underutilized and this space should strongly 
be considered for re-purposing for other recreation space and activity.   

4. The impact of having a swimming pool cannot be understated. NSGA activity ranking lists swimming as the number three activity 
in participation in the country. Although the school district provides some programming time for City activities, the school pools 
are designed for competitive swimming and have little appeal for families or recreational swim. Additionally, access to the pools 
during the school year are limited at best. The City has more access to the school pools in the summer months but clearly The 
Falls Aquatic Center is the largest aquatic attraction in the summer. 

5. Exercise walking is the number one activity in the U.S. based on participation. Based on the NSGA estimates, there are a significant 
number of exercise walkers (14,229) in the primary service area. Although there are trails, parks and outdoor walking 
opportunities readily available in the community having a climate controlled and safe environment is important. Expanding and 
enhancing the indoor walking track at the CFRFC is an important ingredient to attract people interested in walking in an indoor 
environment.   

6. Finding more group exercise opportunities by expanding the Center or re-purposing other spaces to create more space. Group 
exercise programs continue to be the fastest growing element of exercise in the marketplace today. Participation in group exercise 
continues to grow and the existing availability of space is limiting program offerings. Having more space to accommodate classes 
is critical to keep pace with new fitness trends.    

7. Adding more gymnasium space to accommodate more drop-in play opportunities is critical for attracting family memberships 
and youth participation. A separate gymnasium space for adult sport programs, youth and sport training opportunities is required 
to preserve drop-in opportunities. 

8. Explore options for partnering with the School District of the development of a separate competitive swimming venue. A 
competitive swim venue will require partnerships to share development and operating costs.   

286

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 036

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 4 

Cedar Falls is facing a similar situation with many other communities that have aging facilities, changing demographics and a need to 
determine a direction for the future. The consulting team has been involved with several communities that have completed a plan or 
are currently going through a similar process as Cedar Falls. An example of similar case studies includes the following: 

 

Bloomington, MN 

Bloomington was faced with and aging Senior/Community Center that needed significant repair and renovation. The City of 
Bloomington moved their senior programs and activities into a re-purposed school facility many years ago. The facility is now too 
small, lacks many modern amenities and is no longer meeting the needs of a growing and vibrant senior population. The study process 
and planning efforts led the City to move forward on the design of a new community center with senior services. The new center will 
be sized to meet the needs of residents both now and in the future. A new community center will improve the quality of life, attract 
younger families and serve the diverse senior program needs. 

 

Eagan, MN  

The City of Eagan is currently completing a master plan process to determine future needs for the Recreation Department. The City 
has several aging facilities including a community center that is over 20 years old, a double sheet ice rink, a large regional outdoor 
water park and a small arts center. The master planning process included a statistically valid community wide survey and extensive 
public engagement. These steps have led to developing a conceptual plan to enhance the ice arena, expand and renovate the 
community center, update and refresh the aquatic park and build a new Art Center. The master plan process is going through a cost 
estimate and operational cost impact of the conceptual plan. 

 

Minnetonka, MN  

Minnetonka is a community that is land locked and reaching their population capacity. The existing recreation center has over 10,000 
members and the public demand for programs and services have exceeded the capacity of the center. Minnetonka also has a twin 
sheet ice facility and community center that is part of their City Hall facility. The City went through a master planning process for the 
Recreation Department that included an assessment of existing facilities and programs, extensive public engagement and market 
analysis. The outcome of this study was a multi-leveled implementation plan that identified creative and cost-efficient ways to meet 
future recreation demands. The City is exploring funding options and implementation plan as part of the City’s capital improvement 
plan. 

 

Edwards, CO 

The Mountain Recreation District operates facilities in Gypsum, Eagle and Edwards Colorado. The Recreation District is facing growing 
pains and although the District has multiple aquatic facilities, ice rink, gymnasiums and field house, the recreation needs of the 
community were not being met. The Mountain Recreation District embarked on a study to determine and validate the recreation needs 
of its constituents. The study included conducting a community survey and public input process and led to an outcome to expand the 
Edwards Field House. The District is going through a pre-design process and cost estimates to implement the expansion plans.   

 

Carbon Valley Recreation Parks and Recreation District (CVRPRD) 

The CVPRD is a rapidly growing recreation District that encompasses the communities of Frederick, Firestone and Dacono Colorado. 
The District operates a community center, gymnastic center and senior center. CVPRD is being challenged to meet the needs of a 
growing community and is conducting a detailed study to determine current and future recreation needs. The study process included 287

Item 2.



037

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 4 

Cedar Falls is facing a similar situation with many other communities that have aging facilities, changing demographics and a need to 
determine a direction for the future. The consulting team has been involved with several communities that have completed a plan or 
are currently going through a similar process as Cedar Falls. An example of similar case studies includes the following: 

 

Bloomington, MN 

Bloomington was faced with and aging Senior/Community Center that needed significant repair and renovation. The City of 
Bloomington moved their senior programs and activities into a re-purposed school facility many years ago. The facility is now too 
small, lacks many modern amenities and is no longer meeting the needs of a growing and vibrant senior population. The study process 
and planning efforts led the City to move forward on the design of a new community center with senior services. The new center will 
be sized to meet the needs of residents both now and in the future. A new community center will improve the quality of life, attract 
younger families and serve the diverse senior program needs. 

 

Eagan, MN  

The City of Eagan is currently completing a master plan process to determine future needs for the Recreation Department. The City 
has several aging facilities including a community center that is over 20 years old, a double sheet ice rink, a large regional outdoor 
water park and a small arts center. The master planning process included a statistically valid community wide survey and extensive 
public engagement. These steps have led to developing a conceptual plan to enhance the ice arena, expand and renovate the 
community center, update and refresh the aquatic park and build a new Art Center. The master plan process is going through a cost 
estimate and operational cost impact of the conceptual plan. 

 

Minnetonka, MN  

Minnetonka is a community that is land locked and reaching their population capacity. The existing recreation center has over 10,000 
members and the public demand for programs and services have exceeded the capacity of the center. Minnetonka also has a twin 
sheet ice facility and community center that is part of their City Hall facility. The City went through a master planning process for the 
Recreation Department that included an assessment of existing facilities and programs, extensive public engagement and market 
analysis. The outcome of this study was a multi-leveled implementation plan that identified creative and cost-efficient ways to meet 
future recreation demands. The City is exploring funding options and implementation plan as part of the City’s capital improvement 
plan. 

 

Edwards, CO 

The Mountain Recreation District operates facilities in Gypsum, Eagle and Edwards Colorado. The Recreation District is facing growing 
pains and although the District has multiple aquatic facilities, ice rink, gymnasiums and field house, the recreation needs of the 
community were not being met. The Mountain Recreation District embarked on a study to determine and validate the recreation needs 
of its constituents. The study included conducting a community survey and public input process and led to an outcome to expand the 
Edwards Field House. The District is going through a pre-design process and cost estimates to implement the expansion plans.   

 

Carbon Valley Recreation Parks and Recreation District (CVRPRD) 

The CVPRD is a rapidly growing recreation District that encompasses the communities of Frederick, Firestone and Dacono Colorado. 
The District operates a community center, gymnastic center and senior center. CVPRD is being challenged to meet the needs of a 
growing community and is conducting a detailed study to determine current and future recreation needs. The study process included  

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 5 

a statistically valid survey, market assessment, web-based survey and extensive public engagement to help determine future needs. 
The study is in the process of assessing several options including renovating their existing community center, building a new 
community center with an outdoor pool, building a new field house and developing a outdoor field complex.   

 

 

 

  

288

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 038

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 6 

Section II – Market Assessment 
 
The following is a summary of the demographic characteristics within Cedar Falls and an area identified as the Secondary Service 
Areas.  The Secondary Service Area is roughly a 15-minute drive, excluding Waterloo, IA to the east.    
 
B*K accesses demographic information from Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI) who utilizes 2010 Census data and 
their demographers for 2018-2023 projections.  In addition to demographics, ESRI also provides data on housing, recreation, and 
entertainment spending and adult participation in activities.  B*K also uses information produced by the National Sporting Goods 
Association (NSGA) to overlay onto the demographic profile to determine potential participation in various activities.   
 
Service Areas:   
The information provided includes the basic demographics and data for Cedar Falls with comparison data for the Secondary Service 
Area as well as the State of Iowa and the United States.   
 
Secondary Service Areas are defined as the distance people will travel on a regular basis (a minimum of once a week) to utilize 
recreation facilities.  Use by individuals outside of this area will be much more limited and will focus more on special activities or 
events.   
 
Service areas can expand or contract based upon a facility’s proximity to major thoroughfares.  Other factors impacting the use as it 
relates to driving distance are the presence of alternative service providers in the service area.  Alternative service providers can 
influence membership, daily admissions and the associated participation rates for programs and services. 
 
Service areas can vary in size with the types of components in the facility.   
 

  

289

Item 2.



039

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 7 

Infographic 

 
• Household by Income comparison uses Cedar Falls and compares it to Black Hawk County.  

*

*

290

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 040

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 8 

Demographic Summary  
 

 Cedar Falls Secondary Service Area  

Population:   

2010 Census 39,2601 47,6702 

2019 Estimate 41,217 50,144 

2024 Estimate 42,374 51,495 

Households:   

2010 Census 14,608 17,915 

2019 Estimate 15,520 19,027 

2024 Estimate 15,987 19,571 

Families:   

2010 Census 8,091 10,656 

2019 Estimate 8,470 11,133 

2024 Estimate 8,679 11,389 

Average Household Size:   

2010 Census 2.37 2.41 

2019 Estimate 2.38 2.41 

2024 Estimate 2.38 2.41 

Ethnicity  
(2019 Estimate):  

  

Hispanic 2.4% 2.3% 

White 89.9% 91.2% 

Black 2.4% 2.1% 

American Indian 0.2% 0.2% 

Asian 4.8% 4.1% 

Pacific Islander 0.0% 0.0% 

Other 0.6% 0.6% 

Multiple 2.1% 2.3% 

Median Age:   

2010 Census 27.1 29.5 

2019 Estimate 30.6 32.6 

2024 Estimate 31.9 34.1 

Median Income:   

2010 Estimate $54,038 $61,603 

2019 Estimate $59,519 $63,131 

  
  

                                                             
1 From the 2000-2010 Census, Cedar Falls experienced an 7.9% increase in population. 
2 From the 2000-2010 Census, the Secondary Service Area experienced an 7.9% increase in population. 

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 8 

Demographic Summary  
 

 Cedar Falls Secondary Service Area  

Population:   

2010 Census 39,2601 47,6702 

2019 Estimate 41,217 50,144 

2024 Estimate 42,374 51,495 

Households:   

2010 Census 14,608 17,915 

2019 Estimate 15,520 19,027 

2024 Estimate 15,987 19,571 

Families:   

2010 Census 8,091 10,656 

2019 Estimate 8,470 11,133 

2024 Estimate 8,679 11,389 

Average Household Size:   

2010 Census 2.37 2.41 

2019 Estimate 2.38 2.41 

2024 Estimate 2.38 2.41 

Ethnicity  
(2019 Estimate):  

  

Hispanic 2.4% 2.3% 

White 89.9% 91.2% 

Black 2.4% 2.1% 

American Indian 0.2% 0.2% 

Asian 4.8% 4.1% 

Pacific Islander 0.0% 0.0% 

Other 0.6% 0.6% 

Multiple 2.1% 2.3% 

Median Age:   

2010 Census 27.1 29.5 

2019 Estimate 30.6 32.6 

2024 Estimate 31.9 34.1 

Median Income:   

2010 Estimate $54,038 $61,603 

2019 Estimate $59,519 $63,131 

  
  

                                                             
1 From the 2000-2010 Census, Cedar Falls experienced an 7.9% increase in population. 
2 From the 2000-2010 Census, the Secondary Service Area experienced an 7.9% increase in population. 

291

Item 2.



041

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 9 

Map A – Service Area for Cedar Falls Recreation and Fitness Center 
 

 

• Green Boundary – Cedar Falls City Limits 
• Red Boundary – Secondary Service Area  
  

292

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 042

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 10 

Age and Income:  The median age and household income levels are compared with the national number as both of these factors are 
secondary determiners of participation in recreation activities.  The lower the median age, the higher the participation rates are for 
most activities.  The level of participation also increases with the median income level. 
 
Table A – Median Age: 
 

 2010 Census 2019 Projection 2024 Projection 

Cedar Falls 27.1 30.6 31.9 

Secondary Service Area 29.5 32.6 34.1 

State of Iowa 38.0 39.1 39.7 

Nationally 37.1 38.5 39.2 

 
Chart A – Median Age: 
 

 

The median age in Cedar Falls is significantly lower than the Secondary Service Area, State of Iowa and the National number.  A lower 
median age typically points to the presence of families with children. In this case, the lower age is due to the high number of college 
students.  Indoor recreation amenities are becoming multi-generational as the population ages and is more interested in physical 
health.  
  

20

25

30

35

40

45

2010 2019 2024

27.1

30.6
31.9

37.1
38.5 39.2

Cedar Falls Secondary Service Area State of Iowa National

293

Item 2.



043

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 11 

 
The following chart provides the number of households and percentage of households in Cedar Falls and the Secondary Service Area 
with children. 
 
Table B – Households with Children 
 

 Number of Households with 
Children 

Percentage of Households with 
Children 

Cedar Falls 3,619 24.8% 

Secondary Service Area 4,681 26.1% 

State of Iowa -- 30.6% 

 
The information contained in Table-B helps further outline the presence of families with children.  As a point of comparison in the 
2010 Census, 33.4% of households nationally had children present.  
  

294

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 044

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 12 

 
Map B – Median Age by Census Block Group 
 

 

  

295

Item 2.



045

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 13 

Table C – Median Household Income: 
 

 2019 Projection 2024 Projection 

Cedar Falls $59,519 $68,445 

Secondary Service Area $63,131 $72,764 

State of Iowa $58,745 $66,956 

Nationally $60,548 $69,180 

 
 
Chart B – Median Household Income: 
 

  

$40,000

$45,000

$50,000

$55,000

$60,000

$65,000

$70,000

$75,000

2019 2024

$59,519 

$68,445 

$60,548 

$69,180 

Cedar Falls Secondary Service Area State of Iowa National

296

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 046

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 14 

Based on 2019 projections for median household income the following narrative describes the service areas: 
 
In Cedar Falls, the percentage of households with median income over $50,000 per year is 56.9% compared to 59.0% on a national 
level.  Furthermore, the percentage of the households in the service area with median income less than $25,000 per year is 20.8% 
compared to a level of 19.7% nationally. 
 
In Secondary Service Area, the percentage of households with median income over $50,000 per year is 59.4% compared to 59.0% 
on a national level.  Furthermore, the percentage of the households in the service area with median income less than $25,000 per 
year is 18.7% compared to a level of 19.7% nationally. 
 
While there is no perfect indicator of use of an indoor recreation facility, the percentage of households with more than $50,000 median 
income is a key indicator.  Therefore, those numbers are significant and balanced with the overall cost of living.  
 
 
Chart C – Median Household Income Distribution 
 

  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Cedar Falls Secondary Service
Area

State of Iowa National

20.8% 18.7% 18.4% 19.7%

22.3% 21.9% 23.0% 21.3%

56.9% 59.4% 58.6% 59.0%

<$24,999 $25,000-$49,999 $50,000+

297

Item 2.



047

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 15 

Map C – Household Income by Census Tract 
 

  

298

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 048

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 16 

In addition to taking a look at Median Age and Median Income, it is important to examine Household Budget Expenditures to balance 
against the household income level.  In particular, reviewing housing information; shelter, utilities, fuel and public services along with 
entertainment & recreation can provide a snapshot into the cost of living and spending patterns in the services areas.  The table below 
looks at that information and compares the service areas. 
 
Table D – Household Budget Expenditures3: 
 

Cedar Falls SPI Average Amount Spent Percent 
Housing 94 $21,965.27 31.3% 

Shelter 94 $17,337.93 24.7% 
Utilities, Fuel, Public Service 95 $4,627.34 6.6% 

Entertainment & Recreation 93 $3,048.83 4.3% 

 

Secondary Service Area SPI Average Amount Spent Percent 
Housing 97 $22,628.69 31.2% 

Shelter 96 $17,846.44 24.6% 
Utilities, Fuel, Public Service 98 $4,782.25 6.6% 

Entertainment & Recreation 97 $3,172.13 4.4% 

 

State of Iowa SPI Average Amount Spent Percent 
Housing 88 $20,495.69 30.3% 

Shelter 86 $15,905.36 23.5% 
Utilities, Fuel, Public Service 94 $4,590.33 6.8% 

Entertainment & Recreation 93 $3,043.04 4.5% 

 
SPI:   Spending Potential Index as compared to the National number of 100. 
Average Amount Spent:  The average amount spent per household. 
Percent:  Percent of the total 100% of household expenditures.   
 
Note: Shelter along with Utilities, Fuel, Public Service are a portion of the Housing percentage. 

                                                             
3 Consumer Spending data are derived from the 2016 and 2017 Consumer Expenditure Surveys, Bureau of Labor Statistics.  ESRI 
forecasts for 2019 and 2024. 

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 16 

In addition to taking a look at Median Age and Median Income, it is important to examine Household Budget Expenditures to balance 
against the household income level.  In particular, reviewing housing information; shelter, utilities, fuel and public services along with 
entertainment & recreation can provide a snapshot into the cost of living and spending patterns in the services areas.  The table below 
looks at that information and compares the service areas. 
 
Table D – Household Budget Expenditures3: 
 

Cedar Falls SPI Average Amount Spent Percent 
Housing 94 $21,965.27 31.3% 

Shelter 94 $17,337.93 24.7% 
Utilities, Fuel, Public Service 95 $4,627.34 6.6% 

Entertainment & Recreation 93 $3,048.83 4.3% 

 

Secondary Service Area SPI Average Amount Spent Percent 
Housing 97 $22,628.69 31.2% 

Shelter 96 $17,846.44 24.6% 
Utilities, Fuel, Public Service 98 $4,782.25 6.6% 

Entertainment & Recreation 97 $3,172.13 4.4% 

 

State of Iowa SPI Average Amount Spent Percent 
Housing 88 $20,495.69 30.3% 

Shelter 86 $15,905.36 23.5% 
Utilities, Fuel, Public Service 94 $4,590.33 6.8% 

Entertainment & Recreation 93 $3,043.04 4.5% 

 
SPI:   Spending Potential Index as compared to the National number of 100. 
Average Amount Spent:  The average amount spent per household. 
Percent:  Percent of the total 100% of household expenditures.   
 
Note: Shelter along with Utilities, Fuel, Public Service are a portion of the Housing percentage. 

                                                             
3 Consumer Spending data are derived from the 2016 and 2017 Consumer Expenditure Surveys, Bureau of Labor Statistics.  ESRI 
forecasts for 2019 and 2024. 

299

Item 2.



049

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 17 

Chart D – Household Budget Expenditures Spending Potential Index: 

 
 
The consistency between the median household income and the household budget expenditures is important.  It also points to the fact 
that compared to a National level the dollars available, and that are being spent in Cedar Falls, the Secondary Service Area and State 
of Iowa, are lower.  This could point to the ability to pay for programs and services offered at a recreation facility of any variety.   
 
The total number of housing units in Cedar Falls is 15,477 and 94.4% are occupied, or 14,608 housing units.  The total vacancy rate 
for the service area is 5.6%. Of the available units: 

• For Rent   2.3% 
• Rented, not Occupied 0.2% 
• For Sale   1.1%  
• Sold, not Occupied  0.3%  
• For Seasonal Use  0.5%  
• Other Vacant  1.2% 

 

The total number of housing units in the Secondary Service Area is 18,960 and 94.5% are occupied, or 17,915 housing units.  The 
total vacancy rate for the service area is 5.5%. Of the available units: 

• For Rent   2.0% 
• Rented, not Occupied 0.2% 
• For Sale   1.0%  
• Sold, not Occupied  0.3%  
• For Seasonal Use  0.6%  
• Other Vacant  1.4% 

 

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

Housing Shelter Utilities, Fuel, Public
Service

Entertainment &
Recreation

94 94 95
93

100 100 100 100

Sp
en

di
ng

 P
ot

en
tia

l I
nd

ex

Cedar Falls Secondary Service Area State of Iowa National

300

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 050

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 18 

Recreation Expenditures Spending Potential Index:  Finally, through the demographic provider that B*K utilizes for the market 
analysis portion of the report, we can examine the overall propensity for households to spend dollars on recreation activities.  The 
following comparisons are possible. 
 
Table E – Recreation Expenditures Spending Potential Index4: 
 

Cedar Falls SPI Average Spent 

Fees for Participant Sports 91 $97.99 

Fees for Recreational Lessons 84 $120.26 

Social, Recreation, Club Membership 90 $212.60 

Exercise Equipment/Game Tables 91 $59.13 

Other Sports Equipment 91 $6.04 

 

Secondary Service Area SPI Average Spent 

Fees for Participant Sports 96 $102.81 

Fees for Recreational Lessons 89 $127.42 

Social, Recreation, Club Membership 94 $222.87 

Exercise Equipment/Game Tables 96 $62.87 

Other Sports Equipment 96 $6.40 

 
State of Iowa SPI Average Spent 

Fees for Participant Sports 85 $55.88 

Fees for Recreational Lessons 77 $110.55 

Social, Recreation, Club Membership 80 $188.33 

Exercise Equipment/Game Tables 90 $58.43 

Other Sports Equipment 89 $5.88 

 
Average Amount Spent:  The average amount spent for the service or item in a year. 

SPI:  Spending potential index as compared to the national number of 100. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                             
4 Consumer Spending data are derived from the 2016 and 2017 Consumer Expenditure Surveys, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 18 

Recreation Expenditures Spending Potential Index:  Finally, through the demographic provider that B*K utilizes for the market 
analysis portion of the report, we can examine the overall propensity for households to spend dollars on recreation activities.  The 
following comparisons are possible. 
 
Table E – Recreation Expenditures Spending Potential Index4: 
 

Cedar Falls SPI Average Spent 

Fees for Participant Sports 91 $97.99 

Fees for Recreational Lessons 84 $120.26 

Social, Recreation, Club Membership 90 $212.60 

Exercise Equipment/Game Tables 91 $59.13 

Other Sports Equipment 91 $6.04 

 

Secondary Service Area SPI Average Spent 

Fees for Participant Sports 96 $102.81 

Fees for Recreational Lessons 89 $127.42 

Social, Recreation, Club Membership 94 $222.87 

Exercise Equipment/Game Tables 96 $62.87 

Other Sports Equipment 96 $6.40 

 
State of Iowa SPI Average Spent 

Fees for Participant Sports 85 $55.88 

Fees for Recreational Lessons 77 $110.55 

Social, Recreation, Club Membership 80 $188.33 

Exercise Equipment/Game Tables 90 $58.43 

Other Sports Equipment 89 $5.88 

 
Average Amount Spent:  The average amount spent for the service or item in a year. 

SPI:  Spending potential index as compared to the national number of 100. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                             
4 Consumer Spending data are derived from the 2016 and 2017 Consumer Expenditure Surveys, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

Community
Survey

Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center

12. Regarding the current rates, please identify how you feel about the overall cost of annual membership at the

Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center.

 Resident Non-Resident

12 Grade & Under  $115.00 $210.00

Adult  $175.00  $355.00

Senior Citizen (65+) $155.00 $290.00

Family $260.00 $465.00

Cost is much lower than I would expect

Cost is lower than I would expect

Cost is appropriate

Cost is higher than I would expect

Cost is much higher than I would expect

 

13. Are you aware that punch cards for 20 uses of the facility are available for purchase, for both Residents and

Non-Residents?

Yes No

 

14. Currently, Annual Memberships can only be purchased with a single lump-sum payment to cover the entire fee

for the year.   

If available, would you prefer to pay for your Annual Membership on a regular monthly basis (monthly

installments)?

Yes No

6

Following are current rates for membership at the CFRFC . . . 

301

Item 2.



051

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 19 

 
Chart E – Recreation Spending Potential Index: 
 

 

Again, there is a great deal of consistency between median household income, household budget expenditures and now recreation 
and spending potential.    

70

75

80

85

90

95

100

Participant Sports Rec Lessons Social, Rec, Club
Member

Exercise Equip Other Sports Equip

91

84

90 91 91

100 100 100 100 100

Sp
en

di
ng

 P
ot

en
tia

l I
nd

ex

Cedar Falls Secondary Service Area State of Iowa National

302

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 052

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 20 

Map D – Recreation Spending Potential Index by Census Tract 
 

  

303

Item 2.



053

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 21 

Population Distribution by Age: Utilizing census information for Cedar Falls and the Secondary Service Area, the following 
comparisons are possible. 
 

Table F – 2019 Cedar Falls Age Distribution  
(ESRI estimates) 

 

Ages Population % of Total Nat. Population Difference 
0-5 1,928 4.5% 6.0% -1.5% 

6-17 4,869 11.7% 16.0% -4.3% 

18-24 10,166 24.7% 9.4% +15.3% 

25-44 10,038 24.5% 26.6% -2.1% 

45-54 3,542 8.6% 12.5% -3.9% 

55-64 4,198 10.2% 13.0% -2.8% 

65-74 3,491 8.4% 9.7% -1.3% 

75+ 2,988 7.2% 6.8% +0.4% 

 
Population:  2019 census estimates in the different age groups in Cedar Falls. 

% of Total:  Percentage of Cedar Falls population in the age group. 

National Population: Percentage of the national population in the age group. 

Difference: Percentage difference between Cedar Falls population and the national population. 
 

Chart F – 2019 Cedar Falls Age Group Distribution 
 

 

The demographic makeup of Cedar Falls, when compared to the characteristics of the national population, indicates that there are 
some differences with a larger population in the 18-24 and 75+ age groups.  A smaller population in the age groups 0-5, 6-17, 25-
44, 45-54,55-64 and 65-74.  The greatest positive variance is in the 18-24 age group with +15.3%, while the greatest negative 
variance is in the 6-17 age group with -4.3%.     
  

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

-5 6-17 18-24 25-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f P
op

ul
at

io
n

Cedar Falls National

7

304

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 054

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 22 

Table F – 2019 Secondary Service Area Age Distribution  
(ESRI estimates) 

 

Ages Population % of Total Nat. Population Difference 
0-5 2,436 4.9% 6.0% -1.1% 

6-17 6,355 12.6% 16.0% -3.4% 

18-24 10,812 21.5% 9.4% +12.1% 

25-44 11,974 23.9% 26.6% -2.7% 

45-54 4,667 9.3% 12.5% -3.2% 

55-64 5,566 11.1% 13.0% -1.9% 

65-74 4,629 9.2% 9.7% -0.5% 

75+ 3,703 7.4% 6.8% +0.6% 

 
Population:  2019 census estimates in the different age groups in the Secondary Service Area. 

% of Total:  Percentage of the Secondary Service Area population in the age group. 

National Population: Percentage of the national population in the age group. 

Difference: Percentage difference between the Secondary Service Area population and the national population. 
 

Chart F – 2019 Secondary Service Area Age Group Distribution 
 

 

The demographic makeup of the Secondary Service Area, when compared to the characteristics of the national population, indicates 
that there are some differences with a larger population in the 18-24 and 75+ age groups.  A smaller population in the age groups 0-
5, 6-17, 25-44, 45-54,55-64 and 65-74.  The greatest positive variance is in the 18-24 age group with +12.1%, while the greatest 
negative variance is in the 6-17 age group with -3.4%.     
  

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

-5 6-17 18-24 25-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f P
op

ul
at

io
n

Secondary Service Area National

7

305

Item 2.



055

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 23 

Population Distribution Comparison by Age: Utilizing census information from Cedar Falls and the Secondary Service Area, the 
following comparisons are possible. 
 
Table H – 2019 Cedar Falls Population Estimates  
(U.S. Census Information and ESRI) 

 

Ages 2010 Census 2019 Projection 2024 Projection Percent Change Percent Change 
Nat’l 

-5 1,969 1,928 2,001 +1.6% +2.6% 

6-17 4,821 4,869 4,911 +1.9% +0.9% 

18-24 11,696 10,166 10,192 -12.9% +0.7% 

25-44 8,028 10,038 10,352 +28.9% +12.9% 

45-54 3,911 3,542 3,546 -9.3% -9.8% 

55-64 3,983 4,198 3,928 -1.4% +16.3% 

65-74 2,189 3,491 3,887 +77.6% +68.0% 

75+ 2,663 2,988 3,555 +33.5% +46.4% 

 
Chart H – Cedar Falls Population Growth 
 

 

Table-H illustrates the growth or decline in age group numbers from the 2010 census until the year 2024.  It is projected age 
categories under 5, 6-17, 25-44, 65-74 and 75+ will see an increase in population.  The population of the United States as a whole 
is aging, and it is not unusual to find negative growth numbers in the younger age groups and significant net gains in the 45 plus 
age groupings in communities which are relatively stable in their population numbers.  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

-5 6-17 18-24 25-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

Po
pu

la
tio

n

2010 2019 2024

7

306

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 056

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 24 

Population Distribution Comparison by Age: Utilizing census information from Cedar Falls, the following comparisons are possible. 
 
Table H – 2019 Secondary Service Area Population Estimates  
(U.S. Census Information and ESRI) 

 

Ages 2010 Census 2019 Projection 2024 Projection Percent Change Percent Change 
Nat’l 

-5 2,481 2,436 2,514 +1.3% +2.6% 

6-17 6,390 6,355 6,446 +0.9% +0.9% 

18-24 12,186 10,812 10,799 -11.4% +0.7% 

25-44 9,874 11,974 12,349 +25.1% +12.9% 

45-54 5,249 4,667 4,613 -12.1% -9.8% 

55-64 5,328 5,566 5,199 -2.4% +16.3% 

65-74 3,002 4,629 5,119 +70.5% +68.0% 

75+ 3,157 3,703 4,452 +41.0% +46.4% 

 
Chart H – Secondary Service Area Population Growth 
 

 

Table-H illustrates the growth or decline in age group numbers from the 2010 census until the year 2024.  It is projected all age 
categories, except 18-24, 45-54 and 55-64, will see an increase in population.  The population of the United States as a whole is 
aging, and it is not unusual to find negative growth numbers in the younger age groups and significant net gains in the 45 plus age 
groupings in communities which are relatively stable in their population numbers. 
  

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

-5 6-17 18-24 25-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+

Po
pu

la
tio

n

2010 2019 2024

307

Item 2.



057

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 25 

Below is listed the distribution of the population by race and ethnicity for Cedar Falls and the Secondary Service Area for 2019 
population projections.  Those numbers were developed from 2010 Census Data. The Census Data defined Hispanic as an ethnicity 
and not a race, consequently a table for ethnicity is to identify the Hispanic community within the service areas.   
 
Table J – Cedar Falls Ethnic Population and Median Age 2019 
(Source – U.S. Census Bureau and ESRI) 

 

Ethnicity Total Population Median Age % of Population % of IA Population 

Hispanic 1,011 23.2 2.4% 6.4% 

 
Table K – Cedar Falls by Race and Median Age 2019 
(Source – U.S. Census Bureau and ESRI) 

 

Race Total Population Median Age % of Population % of IA Population 

White 37,070 31.4 89.9% 88.0% 

Black 997 23.8 2.4% 4.0% 

American Indian 66 28.0 0.2% 0.4% 

Asian 1,967 31.0 4.8% 2.8% 

Pacific Islander 3 22.5 0.0% 0.1% 

Other 250 25.7 0.6% 2.3% 

Multiple 869 18.3 2.1% 2.3% 

 
2019 Cedar Falls Total Population:  41,217 Residents 
 
Chart J – 2019 Cedar Falls Population by Non-White Race 

 
 
 

2.4%

0.2%

4.8%

0.0%
0.6%

2.1% Black

American Indian

Asian

Pacific Islander

Other

Multiple

308

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 058

market analysis, cedar falls area  

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 26 

 
 
Table J – Secondary Service Area Ethnic Population and Median Age 2019 
(Source – U.S. Census Bureau and ESRI) 

 

Ethnicity Total Population Median Age % of Population % of IA Population 

Hispanic 1,169 22.6 2.3% 6.4% 

 
Table K – Secondary Service Area by Race and Median Age 2019 
(Source – U.S. Census Bureau and ESRI) 

 

Race Total Population Median Age % of Population % of IA Population 

White 45,717 33.6 91.2% 88.0% 

Black 1,038 23.9 2.1% 4.0% 

American Indian 78 28.0 0.2% 0.4% 

Asian 2,075 31.0 4.1% 2.8% 

Pacific Islander 3 22.5 0.0% 0.1% 

Other 291 26.2 0.6% 2.3% 

Multiple 942 18.0 1.9% 2.3% 

 
2019 Secondary Service Area Total Population:  50,144 Residents 
 
Chart J – 2019 Secondary Service Area Population by Non-White Race 
 

 
 
  

2.1%

0.2%

4.1%
0.0%

0.6%

1.9% Black

American Indian

Asian

Pacific Islander

Other

Multiple

309

Item 2.



059

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 27 

Tapestry Segmentation 
 
Tapestry segmentation represents the 4th generation of market segmentation systems that began 30 years ago.  The 65-segment 
Tapestry Segmentation system classifies U.S. neighborhoods based on their socioeconomic and demographic compositions.  While 
the demographic landscape of the U.S. has changed significantly since the 2010 Census, the tapestry segmentation has remained 
stable as neighborhoods have evolved. 
 
There is value including this information for Cedar Falls, IA.  The data assists the organization in understanding the 
consumers/constituents in their service area and supplies them with the right products and services. 
 
The Tapestry segmentation system classifies U.S. neighborhoods into 65 unique market segments.  Neighborhoods are sorted by more 
than 60 attributes including; income, employment, home value, housing types, education, household composition, age and other key 
determinates of consumer behavior. 
 
The following pages and tables outline the top 5 tapestry segments in each of the service areas and provides a brief description of 
each.  This information combined with the key indicators and demographic analysis of each service area help further describe the 
markets that the Primary and Secondary Service Areas look to serve with programs, services, and special events.     
 
For comparison purposes the following are the top 10 Tapestry segments, along with percentage in the United States: 
 

1. Green Acres (6A)   3.2% 
2. Southern Satellites (10A)  3.1% 
3. Savvy Suburbanites (1D)  3.0% 
4. Soccer Moms (4A)   2.9% 
5. Middleburg (4C)   2.9% 

15.1% 
 

6. Salt of the Earth (6B)  2.9% 
7. Up and Coming Families (7A) 2.5% 
8. Midlife Constants (5E)  2.5% 
9. Comfortable Empty Nesters (5A) 2.4% 
10. Old and Newcomers (8F)  2.3% 

12.6% 

  

310

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 060

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 28 

Table N – Cedar Falls Tapestry Segment Comparison 
(ESRI estimates) 

 Cedar Falls Demographics 

Percent 
Cumulative 

Percent Median Age 
Median HH 

Income 
Old and Newcomers (8F) 30.4% 30.4% 38.5 $39,000 

In Style (5B) 15.3% 45.7% 41.1 $66,000 

College Towns (14B) 12.4% 58.1% 24.3 $28,000 

Midlife Constants (5E) 11.3% 69.4% 45.9 $48,000 

Dorms to Diplomas (14C) 6.8% 76.2% 21.5 $17,000 

 
Chart L – Cedar Falls Tapestry Segment Entertainment Spending: 

 

Old and Newcomers (8F) – Singles living on a budget. Just beginning careers or taking college/adult education classes.  Strong 
supporters of environmental organizations.   

In Style (5B) – This group embraces the urban lifestyle.  They are fully connected to digital devices and support the arts and 
charities/causes.  Most do not have children.  Meticulous planners.  
 
College Towns (14B) – Half of this demographic is enrolled in college.  Although they have busy schedules, they still schedule time 
for socializing and sports. Buy impulsively and are all about new experiences.  
 
Midlife Constants (5E) – Seniors at or approaching retirement. Although they are generous, they are attentive to price.  Prefer outdoor 
activities and contributing to the arts/service organizations.  
 
Dorms to Diplomas (14C) – Own their own home for the first time, these residents are establishing their own identity and preferences.  
Spend time outside of school and part-time socializing with friends and having fun.  Looking for life lessons and new things.  Very 
active and participate in many sports.  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Old and
Newcomers

In Style College Towns Midlife Constants Dorms to
Diplomas

76

125

63

90

43

100 100 100 100 100

Tapestry National

311

Item 2.



061

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 29 

 
Table N – Secondary Service Area Tapestry Segment Comparison 

 Cedar Falls Demographics 

Percent 
Cumulative 

Percent Median Age 
Median HH 

Income 

Old and Newcomers (8F) 24.8% 24.8% 38.5 $39,000 

In Style (5B) 12.6% 37.4% 41.1 $66,000 

College Towns (14B) 10.6% 48.0% 24.3 $28,000 

Comfortable Empty Nesters (5A) 9.4% 57.4% 46.8 $68,000 

Midlife Constants (5E) 9.2% 66.6% 45.9 $48,000 

 
Chart L – Secondary Service Area Tapestry Segment Entertainment Spending: 

 

Old and Newcomers (8F) – Singles living on a budget. Just beginning careers or taking college/adult education classes.  Strong 
supporters of environmental organizations.   
 
In Style (5B) – This group embraces the urban lifestyle.  They are fully connected to digital devices and support the arts and 
charities/causes.  Most do not have children.  Meticulous planners.  
 
College Towns (14B) – Half of this demographic is enrolled in college.  Although they have busy schedules, they still schedule time 
for socializing and sports. Buy impulsively and all about new experiences.  
 
Midlife Constants (5E) – Seniors at or approaching retirement. Although they are generous, they are attentive to price.  Prefer outdoor 
activities and contributing to the arts/service organizations.  
 
Comfortable Empty Nesters (5A) – Baby Boomers earning a comfortable living.  Transitioning from raising children to retirement.  
They value their health and are physically active.   

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Old and
Newcomers

In Style College Towns Comfortable
Empty Nesters

Midlife Constants

76

125

63

123

90
100 100 100 100 100

Tapestry National

312

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 062

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 30 

Demographic Summary 

 
The following summarizes the demographic characteristics of the service area. 
 

• The population level of 41,217 people within the Primary Service Area is large enough to support an indoor recreation facility 
when overlaying NSGA participation statistics on to the demographic profile of the community. 
 

• The population is projected to grow at a modest level of almost 2.8% over the next five years to a population level of 42,374.      
 

• There is a higher percent of under 18-24 and over 75 age groups in the primary service area than the national age group 
distribution.  This reflects that Cedar Falls is a college town the median age is significantly lower (7.9 years) than the national 
level of 38.5 years. The percent of households with children in the primary service area is 24.8% compared to the state level 
of 30.6% and national level of 33.4%. Age is one determining factor that drives participation in recreation and sport activities.     
 

• The median household income of $59,519 within the Primary Service Area is close to the national level of $60,548. 
Comparatively, the percent of households with income over $50,000 is 56.9% compared to a national level of 59.0%. On 
the other end of the spectrum, households with under $25,000 in household income is 18.7% compared to a national level 
of 19.7%. Income levels is another one of the determining factors that drives participation recreation and sports.    
 

• The Spending Potential Index for housing in the primary service area is 6% lower than the national level. Factoring the 
Median Household Income and Spending Potential Index for housing suggests an adequate level of disposable income to 
support participation in Parks and Recreation activities.  
 

• The Tapestry segments identified in the Primary Service Area point to an active community, which is also supported by the 
presence of other service providers. 

 

  

in recreation and sports. 

313

Item 2.



063

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 31 

Section III –Participation, Trends & Providers 
 
In addition to analyzing the demographic realities of the service areas, it is possible to project possible participation in recreation and 
sport activities.   
 
Participation Numbers: On an annual basis, the National Sporting Goods Association (NSGA) conducts an in-depth study and survey 
of how Americans spend their leisure time. This information provides the data necessary to overlay rate of participation onto Cedar 
Falls and the Secondary Service Area to determine market potential.  The information contained in this section of the report, utilizes 
the NSGA’s most recent survey.  For that data was collected in 2017 and the report was issued in June of 2018.   
 
B*K takes the national average and combines that with participation percentages of Cedar Falls and the Secondary Service Area based 
upon age distribution, median income, region and National number.  Those four percentages are then averaged together to create a 
unique participation percentage for the service area.  This participation percentage when applied to the population of Cedar Falls and 
the Secondary Service Area then provides an idea of the market potential for various activities.  
 
 
  

314

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 064

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 32 

Community Recreation Related Activities Participation: These activities could take place at an indoor community recreation center 
space. 
 
Table A –Participation Rates for Cedar Falls 
 

 Age Income Region Nation Average 
Aerobics 15.3% 15.9% 15.0% 15.5% 15.4% 

Baseball 3.9% 3.8% 3.2% 4.1% 3.7% 

Basketball 9.1% 9.3% 8.0% 8.4% 8.7% 

Bicycle Riding 11.5% 13.9% 15.4% 12.5% 13.3% 

Cheerleading 1.1% 1.2% 1.8% 1.2% 1.3% 

Exercise Walking 33.7% 38.9% 39.5% 35.6% 36.9% 

Exercise w/ Equipment 19.0% 20.7% 21.1% 19.0% 20.0% 

Football (flag) 2.2% 2.3% 1.9% 2.1% 2.1% 

Football (tackle) 2.7% 3.6% 3.4% 2.5% 3.0% 

Football (touch) 3.2% 4.5% 2.9% 3.1% 3.4% 

Golf 5.5% 5.3% 7.5% 6.0% 6.1% 

Gymnastics 1.9% 2.0% 1.6% 2.0% 1.9% 

Hockey (ice) 1.2% 1.2% 2.8% 1.1% 1.6% 

Ice/Figure Skating 3.2% 2.4% 3.0% 2.9% 2.9% 

Mixed Martial Arts 2.1% 2.4% 1.6% 2.0% 2.0% 

Pilates 2.0% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 

Running/Jogging 16.1% 17.2% 14.8% 14.8% 15.7% 

Soccer 4.7% 5.2% 5.0% 4.6% 4.9% 

Softball 3.0% 2.9% 3.2% 3.3% 3.1% 

Swimming 14.8% 17.5% 14.0% 15.8% 15.5% 

Tennis 4.2% 3.7% 2.9% 4.1% 3.7% 

Volleyball 3.6% 3.8% 4.2% 3.4% 3.7% 

Weight Lifting 12.6% 13.7% 15.0% 12.2% 13.4% 

Workout at Clubs 13.6% 13.3% 12.3% 12.6% 13.0% 

Wrestling 1.2% 1.6% 1.8% 1.1% 1.4% 

Yoga 11.1% 10.9% 9.3% 10.2% 10.4% 

Did Not Participate 22.7% 23.5% 21.1% 22.8% 22.5% 

 
Age: Participation based on individuals ages 7 & Up of Cedar Falls. 
Income: Participation based on the 2018 estimated median household income in Cedar Falls. 
Region: Participation based on regional statistics (West North Central). 
National: Participation based on national statistics. 
Average:  Average of the four columns. 
 
Note: “Did Not Participate” refers to all 55 activities tracked by the NSGA.   

Text highlighted in yellow identifies participation rates for those activities most relevant to the data gleaned in the Community-
wide survey.

315

Item 2.



065

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 33 

Table B –Participation Rates for Secondary Service Area 
 

 Age Income Region Nation Average 
Aerobics 15.3% 15.9% 15.0% 15.5% 15.4% 

Baseball 3.9% 3.8% 3.2% 4.1% 3.7% 

Basketball 8.8% 9.3% 8.0% 8.4% 8.6% 

Bicycle Riding 11.6% 13.9% 15.4% 12.5% 13.4% 

Cheerleading 1.1% 1.2% 1.8% 1.2% 1.3% 

Exercise Walking 34.3% 38.9% 39.5% 35.6% 37.1% 

Exercise w/ Equipment 19.0% 20.7% 21.1% 19.0% 19.9% 

Football (flag) 2.1% 2.3% 1.9% 2.1% 2.1% 

Football (tackle) 2.6% 3.6% 3.4% 2.5% 3.0% 

Football (touch) 3.1% 4.5% 2.9% 3.1% 3.4% 

Golf 5.6% 5.3% 7.5% 6.0% 6.1% 

Gymnastics 1.9% 2.0% 1.6% 2.0% 1.9% 

Hockey (ice) 1.2% 1.2% 2.8% 1.1% 1.6% 

Ice/Figure Skating 3.1% 2.4% 3.0% 2.9% 2.9% 

Mixed Martial Arts 2.1% 2.4% 1.6% 2.0% 2.0% 

Pilates 2.0% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 1.9% 

Running/Jogging 15.7% 17.2% 14.8% 14.8% 15.6% 

Soccer 4.7% 5.2% 5.0% 4.6% 4.9% 

Softball 3.1% 2.9% 3.2% 3.3% 3.1% 

Swimming 15.0% 17.5% 14.0% 15.8% 15.6% 

Tennis 4.1% 3.7% 2.9% 4.1% 3.7% 

Volleyball 3.5% 3.8% 4.2% 3.4% 3.7% 

Weight Lifting 12.3% 13.7% 15.0% 12.2% 13.3% 

Workout at Clubs 13.4% 13.3% 12.3% 12.6% 12.9% 

Wrestling 1.1% 1.6% 1.8% 1.1% 1.4% 

Yoga 10.8% 10.9% 9.3% 10.2% 10.3% 

Did Not Participate 22.8% 23.5% 21.1% 22.8% 22.6% 

 
Age: Participation based on individuals ages 7 & Up of the Secondary Service Area. 
Income: Participation based on the 2018 estimated median household income in the Secondary Service Area. 
Region: Participation based on regional statistics (West North Central). 
National: Participation based on national statistics. 
Average:  Average of the four columns. 
 
Note: “Did Not Participate” refers to all 55 activities tracked by the NSGA.  
  

316

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 066

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 34 

Anticipated Participation Number: Utilizing the average percentage from Table-A above plus the 2010 census information and 
census estimates for 2018 and 2023 (over age 7) the following comparisons are available. 
 
Table C –Participation Growth or Decline in Cedar Falls 
 

 Average 2010 
Population 

2018 
Population 

2023 
Population 

Difference 

Aerobics 15.4% 5,627 5,943 6,107 479 

Baseball 3.7% 1,366 1,442 1,482 116 

Basketball 8.7% 3,173 3,351 3,443 270 

Bicycle Riding 13.3% 4,864 5,137 5,279 414 

Cheerleading 1.3% 488 515 529 42 

Exercise Walking 36.9% 13,473 14,229 14,621 1,148 

Exercise w/ Equipment 20.0% 7,281 7,689 7,901 620 

Football (flag) 2.1% 771 814 837 66 

Football (tackle) 3.0% 1,111 1,173 1,205 95 

Football (touch) 3.4% 1,246 1,316 1,352 106 

Golf 6.1% 2,213 2,337 2,401 189 

Gymnastics 1.9% 687 726 746 59 

Hockey (ice) 1.6% 575 607 624 49 

Ice/Figure Skating 2.9% 1,049 1,108 1,138 89 

Mixed Martial Arts 2.0% 741 782 804 63 

Pilates 1.9% 704 744 764 60 

Running/Jogging 15.7% 5,740 6,062 6,229 489 

Soccer 4.9% 1,783 1,883 1,934 152 

Softball 3.1% 1,136 1,199 1,232 97 

Swimming 15.5% 5,663 5,981 6,146 482 

Tennis 3.7% 1,358 1,434 1,473 116 

Volleyball 3.7% 1,365 1,442 1,482 116 

Weight Lifting 13.4% 4,877 5,150 5,292 415 

Workout at Clubs 13.0% 4,726 4,991 5,129 403 

Wrestling 1.4% 517 546 561 44 

Yoga 10.4% 3,781 3,993 4,103 322 

Did Not Participate 22.5% 8,216 8,677 8,916 700 

 
Note: These figures do not necessarily translate into attendance figures for various activities or programs.  The “Did Not Participate” 
statistics refers to all 55 activities outlined in the NSGA 2017 Survey Instrument. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

317

Item 2.



067

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 35 

Table D –Participation Growth or Decline in Secondary Service Area 
 

 Average 2010 
Population 

2018 
Population 

2023 
Population 

Difference 

Aerobics 15.4% 6,808 7,204 7,397 590 

Baseball 3.7% 1,651 1,747 1,794 143 

Basketball 8.6% 3,811 4,033 4,141 330 

Bicycle Riding 13.4% 5,900 6,244 6,411 511 

Cheerleading 1.3% 590 625 641 51 

Exercise Walking 37.1% 16,367 17,321 17,785 1,418 

Exercise w/ Equipment 19.9% 8,808 9,321 9,571 763 

Football (flag) 2.1% 929 983 1,009 80 

Football (tackle) 3.0% 1,337 1,415 1,453 116 

Football (touch) 3.4% 1,502 1,589 1,632 130 

Golf 6.1% 2,690 2,846 2,923 233 

Gymnastics 1.9% 832 880 904 72 

Hockey (ice) 1.6% 692 732 752 60 

Ice/Figure Skating 2.9% 1,259 1,332 1,368 109 

Mixed Martial Arts 2.0% 891 943 968 77 

Pilates 1.9% 847 896 920 73 

Running/Jogging 15.6% 6,895 7,297 7,492 597 

Soccer 4.9% 2,148 2,273 2,334 186 

Softball 3.1% 1,375 1,455 1,494 119 

Swimming 15.6% 6,872 7,273 7,468 595 

Tennis 3.7% 1,636 1,731 1,778 142 

Volleyball 3.7% 1,643 1,738 1,785 142 

Weight Lifting 13.3% 5,878 6,220 6,387 509 

Workout at Clubs 12.9% 5,692 6,024 6,186 493 

Wrestling 1.4% 622 659 676 54 

Yoga 10.3% 4,544 4,809 4,938 394 

Did Not Participate 22.6% 9,957 10,537 10,820 863 

 
Note: These figures do not necessarily translate into attendance figures for various activities or programs.  The “Did Not Participate” 
statistics refers to all 55 activities outlined in the NSGA 2017 Survey Instrument. 
 
  

318

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 068

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 36 

Anticipated Annual Swimming Days: Utilizing NSGA survey information B*K can determine the unique participation percentage for 
the Primary Service Area average number of times each of the groups listed below participated in swimming and the frequency of 
participation in swimming.   
 
Table E – Participation Frequency 
 

 Frequent Occasional Infrequent 

Swimming Frequency 110+ 25-100 6-24 

Swimming Percentage of Population 7.1% 41.3% 51.5% 

 
In the chart above one can look at swimming and how it is defined with respect to visits being Frequent, Occasional or Infrequent.   
 
Table F – Participation Numbers 
 

 Frequent Occasional Infrequent Total 

Swimming 112 60 15  

Population 425 2,470 3,080  

Visits 47,600  148,200 46,200 242,000  

 
The participation noted in the frequent category is typically associated with competitive swimming and ardent lap swimmers while the 
participants in the occasional and infrequent categories are more closely associated with recreation/leisure swimming. Identifying the 
number of frequent visits can be an indicator of what the City of Cedar Falls could expect to see with a pool designed for competitive 
swimming. It should be noted that a portion of the participants whom swim frequently are currently using the existing School District 
swimming facilities.  
 
 
 
 
  

Given the
assumption that frequent aquatic visits represent competitive swimming, Table F illustrated that the potential visits generated from 
occasional and infrequent visits is much larger than the number for frequent visits. This data suggests that a recreation/leisure pool 
will have more participation than a competitive swim venue. It has been our experience that the cost recovery for a recreation/leisure 
pool is greater than the recovery rate for a competitive pool. for a recreation/leisure aquatic experience. It should be noted that a 
portion of the participants whom swim frequently are currently using the existing School District swimming facilities. 

319

Item 2.



069

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 37 

Participation by Ethnicity and Race:  The table below compares the overall rate of participation nationally with the rate for Hispanics 
and African Americans. Utilizing information provided by the National Sporting Goods Association's 2017 survey, the following 
comparisons are possible. The green color represents percentages that are larger than the national level and the red color indicates 
percentages that are lower than the national level.  
 
Table G – Comparison of National, African American and Hispanic Participation Rates 
 

Indoor Activity Cedar Falls National 
Participation 

African American 
Participation 

Hispanic 
Participation 

Aerobics 15.4% 15.5% 13.1% 12.7% 

Baseball 3.7% 4.1% 2.8% 4.5% 

Basketball 8.7% 8.4% 12.1% 7.3% 

Bicycle Riding 13.3% 12.5% 8.3% 10.3% 

Cheerleading 1.3% 1.2% 1.2% 1.7% 

Exercise Walking 36.9% 35.6% 31.2% 27.9% 

Exercise w/ Equipment 20.0% 19.0% 15.4% 17.1% 

Football (flag) 2.1% 2.1% 2.7% 2.3% 

Football (tackle) 3.0% 2.5% 3.8% 2.0% 

Football (touch) 3.4% 3.1% 4.2% 2.3% 

Golf 6.1% 6.0% 1.7% 4.2% 

Gymnastics 1.9% 2.0% 1.6% 2.2% 

Hockey (ice) 1.6% 1.1% 0.8% 0.7% 

Ice/Figure Skating 2.9% 2.9% 1.6% 2.8% 

Mixed Martial Arts 2.0% 2.0% 1.9% 2.1% 

Pilates 1.9% 1.9% 2.4% 2.2% 

Running/Jogging 15.7% 14.8% 12.3% 16.4% 

Soccer 4.9% 4.6% 3.4% 6.2% 

Softball 3.1% 3.3% 2.2% 3.2% 

Swimming 15.5% 15.8% 8.4% 12.8% 

Tennis 3.7% 4.1% 2.6% 3.5% 

Volleyball 3.7% 3.4% 2.8% 3.9% 

Weight Lifting 13.4% 12.2% 10.3% 11.1% 

Workout at Clubs 13.0% 12.6% 9.8% 12.7% 

Wrestling 1.4% 1.1% 0.9% 1.8% 

Yoga 10.4% 10.2% 8.2% 11.5% 

Did Not Participate 22.5% 22.8% 24.9% 23.2% 

 
Primary Service Part:  The unique participation percentage developed for Cedar Falls. 
National Rate:    The national percentage of individuals who participate in the given activity. 
African American Rate:  The percentage of African-Americans who participate in the given activity. 
Hispanic Rate:   The percentage of Hispanics who participate in the given activity. 
 
There is Hispanic population of 2.4% and Black population of 2.4% in Cedar Falls.  As such these numbers don’t play a factor with 
regards to overall participation.   

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 37 

Participation by Ethnicity and Race:  The table below compares the overall rate of participation nationally with the rate for Hispanics 
and African Americans. Utilizing information provided by the National Sporting Goods Association's 2017 survey, the following 
comparisons are possible. The green color represents percentages that are larger than the national level and the red color indicates 
percentages that are lower than the national level.  
 
Table G – Comparison of National, African American and Hispanic Participation Rates 
 

Indoor Activity Cedar Falls National 
Participation 

African American 
Participation 

Hispanic 
Participation 

Aerobics 15.4% 15.5% 13.1% 12.7% 

Baseball 3.7% 4.1% 2.8% 4.5% 

Basketball 8.7% 8.4% 12.1% 7.3% 

Bicycle Riding 13.3% 12.5% 8.3% 10.3% 

Cheerleading 1.3% 1.2% 1.2% 1.7% 

Exercise Walking 36.9% 35.6% 31.2% 27.9% 

Exercise w/ Equipment 20.0% 19.0% 15.4% 17.1% 

Football (flag) 2.1% 2.1% 2.7% 2.3% 

Football (tackle) 3.0% 2.5% 3.8% 2.0% 

Football (touch) 3.4% 3.1% 4.2% 2.3% 

Golf 6.1% 6.0% 1.7% 4.2% 

Gymnastics 1.9% 2.0% 1.6% 2.2% 

Hockey (ice) 1.6% 1.1% 0.8% 0.7% 

Ice/Figure Skating 2.9% 2.9% 1.6% 2.8% 

Mixed Martial Arts 2.0% 2.0% 1.9% 2.1% 

Pilates 1.9% 1.9% 2.4% 2.2% 

Running/Jogging 15.7% 14.8% 12.3% 16.4% 

Soccer 4.9% 4.6% 3.4% 6.2% 

Softball 3.1% 3.3% 2.2% 3.2% 

Swimming 15.5% 15.8% 8.4% 12.8% 

Tennis 3.7% 4.1% 2.6% 3.5% 

Volleyball 3.7% 3.4% 2.8% 3.9% 

Weight Lifting 13.4% 12.2% 10.3% 11.1% 

Workout at Clubs 13.0% 12.6% 9.8% 12.7% 

Wrestling 1.4% 1.1% 0.9% 1.8% 

Yoga 10.4% 10.2% 8.2% 11.5% 

Did Not Participate 22.5% 22.8% 24.9% 23.2% 

 
Primary Service Part:  The unique participation percentage developed for Cedar Falls. 
National Rate:    The national percentage of individuals who participate in the given activity. 
African American Rate:  The percentage of African-Americans who participate in the given activity. 
Hispanic Rate:   The percentage of Hispanics who participate in the given activity. 
 
There is Hispanic population of 2.4% and Black population of 2.4% in Cedar Falls.  As such these numbers don’t play a factor with 
regards to overall participation.   

purple color indicates

320

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 070

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 38 

 
Table H – Comparison of National, African American and Hispanic Participation Rates 
 

Indoor Activity Secondary 
Service Area 

National 
Participation 

African American 
Participation 

Hispanic 
Participation 

Aerobics 15.4% 15.5% 13.1% 12.7% 

Baseball 3.7% 4.1% 2.8% 4.5% 

Basketball 8.6% 8.4% 12.1% 7.3% 

Bicycle Riding 13.4% 12.5% 8.3% 10.3% 

Cheerleading 1.3% 1.2% 1.2% 1.7% 

Exercise Walking 37.1% 35.6% 31.2% 27.9% 

Exercise w/ Equipment 19.9% 19.0% 15.4% 17.1% 

Football (flag) 2.1% 2.1% 2.7% 2.3% 

Football (tackle) 3.0% 2.5% 3.8% 2.0% 

Football (touch) 3.4% 3.1% 4.2% 2.3% 

Golf 6.1% 6.0% 1.7% 4.2% 

Gymnastics 1.9% 2.0% 1.6% 2.2% 

Hockey (ice) 1.6% 1.1% 0.8% 0.7% 

Ice/Figure Skating 2.9% 2.9% 1.6% 2.8% 

Mixed Martial Arts 2.0% 2.0% 1.9% 2.1% 

Pilates 1.9% 1.9% 2.4% 2.2% 

Running/Jogging 15.6% 14.8% 12.3% 16.4% 

Soccer 4.9% 4.6% 3.4% 6.2% 

Softball 3.1% 3.3% 2.2% 3.2% 

Swimming 15.6% 15.8% 8.4% 12.8% 

Tennis 3.7% 4.1% 2.6% 3.5% 

Volleyball 3.7% 3.4% 2.8% 3.9% 

Weight Lifting 13.3% 12.2% 10.3% 11.1% 

Workout at Clubs 12.9% 12.6% 9.8% 12.7% 

Wrestling 1.4% 1.1% 0.9% 1.8% 

Yoga 10.3% 10.2% 8.2% 11.5% 

Did Not Participate 22.6% 22.8% 24.9% 23.2% 

 
Secondary Service Part:  The unique participation percentage developed for the Secondary Service Area. 
National Rate:    The national percentage of individuals who participate in the given activity. 
African American Rate:  The percentage of African-Americans who participate in the given activity. 
Hispanic Rate:   The percentage of Hispanics who participate in the given activity. 
 
There is Hispanic population of 2.3% and Black population of 2.1% in the Secondary Service Area.  As such these numbers don’t play 
a factor with regards to overall participation.   
 

321

Item 2.



071

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 39 

Summary of Sports Participation:  The following chart summarizes participation for indoor activities utilizing information from the 
2017 National Sporting Goods Association survey. 

 
Table I – Sports Participation Summary 
 

Sport Nat’l Rank5 Nat’l Participation (in millions) 

Exercise Walking 1 104.5 

Exercising w/ Equipment 2 55.6 

Swimming 3 47.9 

Aerobic Exercising 4 44.9 

Running/Jogging 5 43.9 

Hiking 6 43.8 

Camping  7 42.1 

Workout @ Club 8 37.4 

Bicycle Riding 9 36.5 

Weight Lifting 10 36.4 

Yoga 13 29.6 

Basketball 14 24.8 

Soccer 20 14.3 

Tennis 22 12.3 

Baseball 23 12.1 

Volleyball 24 10.7 

Table Tennis 25 10.2 

Softball 27 9.8 

Football (touch) 28 9.5 

Ice/Figure Skating 31 8.8 

Football (tackle) 34 7.5 

Football (flag) 35 6.5 

Martial Arts MMA 37 6.0 

Pilates 40 5.7 

Ice Hockey 50 3.3 

Lacrosse 52 2.9 

 
Nat’l Rank:  Popularity of sport based on national survey. 
Nat’l Participation:  Population that participate in this sport on national survey.  
 
 
  

                                                             
5 This rank is based upon the 55 activities reported on by NSGA in their 2017 survey instrument. 

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 39 

Summary of Sports Participation:  The following chart summarizes participation for indoor activities utilizing information from the 
2017 National Sporting Goods Association survey. 

 
Table I – Sports Participation Summary 
 

Sport Nat’l Rank5 Nat’l Participation (in millions) 

Exercise Walking 1 104.5 

Exercising w/ Equipment 2 55.6 

Swimming 3 47.9 

Aerobic Exercising 4 44.9 

Running/Jogging 5 43.9 

Hiking 6 43.8 

Camping  7 42.1 

Workout @ Club 8 37.4 

Bicycle Riding 9 36.5 

Weight Lifting 10 36.4 

Yoga 13 29.6 

Basketball 14 24.8 

Soccer 20 14.3 

Tennis 22 12.3 

Baseball 23 12.1 

Volleyball 24 10.7 

Table Tennis 25 10.2 

Softball 27 9.8 

Football (touch) 28 9.5 

Ice/Figure Skating 31 8.8 

Football (tackle) 34 7.5 

Football (flag) 35 6.5 

Martial Arts MMA 37 6.0 

Pilates 40 5.7 

Ice Hockey 50 3.3 

Lacrosse 52 2.9 

 
Nat’l Rank:  Popularity of sport based on national survey. 
Nat’l Participation:  Population that participate in this sport on national survey.  
 
 
  

                                                             
5 This rank is based upon the 55 activities reported on by NSGA in their 2017 survey instrument. 

322

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 072

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 40 

Participation by Age Group: Within the NSGA survey, participation is broken down by age groups.  As such B*K can identify the top 
3 age groups participating in the activities reflected in this report. 
 
Chart J – Participation by Age Group: 
 

Activity Largest Second Largest Third Largest 
Aerobics 35-44 25-34 45-54 

Baseball 12-17 7-11 25-34 

Basketball 12-17 25-34 18-24 

Bicycle Riding 7-11 45-54 55-64/35-44 

Billiards/Pool 25-34 35-44 18-24 

Exercise Walking 55-64 45-54 65-74 

Exercise w/ Equipment 45-54 35-44 25-34/55-64 

Football (flag) 7-11 12-17 25-34 

Football (tackle) 12-17 25-34 18-24 

Football (touch) 12-17 25-34 7-11 

Hockey (ice) 25-34 12-17 7-11 

Ice/Figure Skating 7-11 12-17 18-24 

Lacrosse 12-17 7-11 25-34 

Martial Arts MMA 7-11 25-34 18-24/35-44 

Pilates 25-34 35-44 45-54 

Running/Jogging 25-34 35-44 18-24 

Soccer 7-11 12-17 25-34 

Softball 12-17 25-34 7-11 

Swimming 35-44 45-54 12-17 

Tables Tennis 25-34 18-24 35-44 

Tennis 25-34 35-44 45-54 

Volleyball 12-17 25-34 18-24 

Weight Lifting 25-34 35-44 45-54 

Workout at Clubs 25-34 35-44 45-54 

Yoga 25-34 35-44 45-54 

Did Not Participate 45-54 55-64 65-74 

 
Largest:   Age group with the highest rate of participation. 
Second Largest:  Age group with the second highest rate of participation. 
Third Largest:  Age group with the third highest rate of participation.  

323

Item 2.



073

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 41 

Market Potential Index for Adult Participation:  In addition to examining the participation numbers for various indoor activities 
through the NSGA 2017 Survey and the Spending Potential Index for Entertainment & Recreation, B*K can access information about 
Sports & Leisure Market Potential.  The following information illustrates participation rates for adults in various activities.  
 
Table K – Market Potential Index for Adult Participation in Activities in Cedar Falls 
 

Adults participated in: Expected Number of 
Adults 

Percent of Population MPI 

Aerobics 2,847 8.3% 108 

Baseball 1,602 4.7% 116 

Basketball 3,898 11.3% 141 

Bicycle Riding 4,442 12.9% 133 

Exercise Walking 8,167 23.7% 96 

Football 2,688 7.8% 166 

Golf 3,747 10.9% 131 

Ice Skating 1,535 4.5% 156 

Pilates 1,017 3.0% 119 

Running/Jogging 5,476 15.9% 124 

Soccer 1,758 5.1% 128 

Softball 1,154 3.4% 119 

Swimming 6,426 18.7% 115 

Tennis 2,072 6.0% 175 

Volleyball 1,961 5.7% 163 

Weight Lifting 3,944 11.5% 110 

Yoga 2,829 8.2% 102 

 
Expected # of Adults: Number of adults, 18 years of age and older, participating in the activity in Cedar Falls.  
Percent of Population:  Percent of the service area that participates in the activity. 
MPI:  Market potential index as compared to the national number of 100. 

 
This table indicates that the overall propensity for adults who participate in an activity. The MPI (Market Potential Index) score is 
benchmarked against the national level of 100. As a result, any activity with an MPI higher than 100 indicates a stronger interest 
within the primary service area and a number lower indicates less interest than the national level. It is noteworthy that all the activities 
listed, except exercise walking, are above the national level.   
 
  

324

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 074

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 42 

Table L – Market Potential Index for Adult Participation in Activities in Secondary Service Area 
 

Adults participated in: Expected Number of 
Adults 

Percent of Population MPI 

Aerobics 3,419 8.3% 108 

Baseball 1,860 4.5% 112 

Basketball 4,397 10.6% 133 

Bicycle Riding 5,231 12.6% 130 

Exercise Walking 10,247 24.8% 101 

Football 2,990 7.2% 154 

Golf 4,598 11.1% 134 

Ice Skating 1,763 4.3% 149 

Pilates 1,211 2.9% 118 

Running/Jogging 6,452 15.6% 122 

Soccer 1,997 4.8% 121 

Softball 1,350 3.3% 115 

Swimming 7,848 19.0% 117 

Tennis 2,304 5.6% 162 

Volleyball 2,200 5.3% 152 

Weight Lifting 4,838 11.7% 113 

Yoga 3,399 8.2% 102 

 
Expected # of Adults: Number of adults, 18 years of age and older, participating in the activity in the Secondary Service Area.

  
Percent of Population:  Percent of the service area that participates in the activity. 
MPI:  Market potential index as compared to the national number of 100. 

 
This table indicates that the overall propensity for adults who participate in an activity. The MPI (Market Potential Index) score is 
benchmarked against the national level of 100. As a result, any activity with an MPI higher than 100 indicates a stronger interest 
within the secondary service area and a number lower indicates less interest than the national level. It is noteworthy that all the 
activities listed, except exercise walking, are above the national level.   
 
 
  

325

Item 2.



075

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 45 

Sports Participation Trends:  Below are listed several sports activities and the percentage of growth or decline that each has 
experienced nationally over the last ten years (2008-2017). 
 
Table M – National Activity Trend (in millions) 
 
Increasing in Popularity 
 

 2008 Participation 2017 Participation Percent Change 
Yoga 10.7 30.3 183.2% 

Lacrosse 1.2 2.9 141.7% 

Hockey (ice) 2.1 3.4 61.9% 

Running/Jogging 30.4 44.9 47.7% 

Wrestling 2.1 3.0 42.9% 

Aerobic Exercising 34.8 45.6 31.0% 

Exercise Walking 89.8 105.7 17.7% 

Weight Lifting 33.2 35.6 7.2% 

Basketball 24.1 24.8 2.9% 

Workout @ Club 36.8 37.8 2.7% 

Tennis 12.3 12.6 2.4% 

Soccer 13.8 14.0 1.4% 

 
 
Decreasing in Popularity 
 

 2008 Participation 2017 Participation Percent Change 
Bicycle Riding 37.4 36.2 -3.2% 

Ice/Figure Skating 8.2 7.7 -6.1% 

Volleyball 12.0 10.7 -10.8% 

Swimming 52.3 45.6 -12.8% 

Baseball 14.0 12.2 -12.9% 

Football (tackle) 9.2 7.9 -14.1% 

Golf 22.7 18.5 -18.5% 

Softball 12.4 9.6 -22.3% 

 
2017 Participation: The number of participants per year in the activity (in millions) in the United States.  

2008 Participation: The number of participants per year in the activity (in millions) in the United States. 

Percent Change: The percent change in the level of participation from 2008 to 2017. 

 
 
  

326

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 076

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA *

Page 42 

Recreation Activity and Facility Trends:  There continues to be very strong growth in the number of people participating in recreation 
and leisure activities.  The Physical Activity Council in its 2013 study indicated that 33% of Americans (age 6 and older) are active to 
a healthy level.  However, the study also indicated that 28% of Americans were inactive.   It is estimated that one in five Americans 
over the age of six participates in some form of fitness related activity at least once a week. Statistics also indicate that approximately 
12 out of every 100 people of the U.S. population (or 12%) belong to a health club.  On the other side, most public recreation centers 
attract between 20% and 30% of a market area (more than once) during a year. All of this indicates the relative strength of a market 
for a community recreation facility.  However, despite these increases the American population continues to lead a rather sedentary 
life with an average of 25% of people across the country reporting that they engage in no physical activity (per The Center for Disease 
Control).    
 
One of the areas of greatest participant growth over the last 10 years is in fitness related activities such as exercise with equipment, 
aerobic exercise and group cycling.  This is also the most volatile area of growth with specific interest areas soaring in popularity for 
a couple of years only to be replaced by a new activity for the coming years. Also, showing particularly strong growth numbers are ice 
hockey and running/jogging while swimming participation remains consistently high despite recent drops in overall numbers.  It is 
significant that many of the activities that can take place in an indoor recreation setting are ranked in the top fifteen in overall 
participation by the National Sporting Goods Association.     
 
Due to the increasing recreational demands, there has been a shortage in most communities of the following spaces: 
 

 Gymnasiums 
 Pools (especially leisure pools) 
 Weight/cardiovascular equipment areas  
 Indoor running/walking tracks 
 Meeting/multipurpose (general program) space 
 Senior’s program space 
 Pre-school and youth space 
 Teen use areas 
 Fieldhouses 

 
Thus, many communities have attempted to include these amenities in public community recreation facilities.  With the growth in 
youth sports and the high demand for school gyms, most communities are experiencing an acute lack of gymnasium space.  
Weight/cardiovascular space is also in high demand and provides a facility with the potential to generate significant revenues.   
 
The success of most recreation departments is dependent on meeting the recreational needs of a variety of individuals.  The fastest 
growing segment of society is the senior population and meeting the needs of this group is especially important now and will only 
grow more so in the coming years.  The Cedar Falls Recreation and Fitness Center is capturing a significant portion of senior fitness 
programming. Insurance based programs such as Silver Sneakers, Silver and Fit are changing the landscape for senior fitness and 
many seniors gravitate to facilities that provide these programs. Indoor walking tracks, exercise areas, pools and classroom spaces 
are important to this age group.  Marketing to the younger more active senior (usually age 55-70) is paramount, as this age group has 
the free time available to participate in leisure activities, the desire to remain fit, and more importantly the disposable income to pay 
for such services. 
 
Youth programming has always been a cornerstone for recreation services and will continue to be so with an increased emphasis on 
teen needs and providing a deterrent to juvenile crime.  With a continuing increase in single parent households and two working parent 
families, the needs of school age children for before and after school child care continues to grow as does the need for preschool 
programming. 
 
As more and more communities attempt to develop community recreation facilities the issues of competition with other providers in 
the market area have inevitably been raised.  The loudest objections have come from the private health club market and their industry 
voice IHRSA.  The private sector has vigorously contended that public facilities unfairly compete with them in the market and have 
spent considerable resources attempting to derail public projects.  However, the reality is that in most markets where public community 
recreation centers have been built, the private sector has not been adversely affected and in fact in many cases has continued to 
grow.  This is due in large part to the fact that public and private providers serve markedly different markets.  One of the other issues 
of competition comes from the non-profit sector (primarily YMCA's but also JCC’s, and others), where the market is much closer to 

327

Item 2.



077

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA *

Page 42 

Recreation Activity and Facility Trends:  There continues to be very strong growth in the number of people participating in recreation 
and leisure activities.  The Physical Activity Council in its 2013 study indicated that 33% of Americans (age 6 and older) are active to 
a healthy level.  However, the study also indicated that 28% of Americans were inactive.   It is estimated that one in five Americans 
over the age of six participates in some form of fitness related activity at least once a week. Statistics also indicate that approximately 
12 out of every 100 people of the U.S. population (or 12%) belong to a health club.  On the other side, most public recreation centers 
attract between 20% and 30% of a market area (more than once) during a year. All of this indicates the relative strength of a market 
for a community recreation facility.  However, despite these increases the American population continues to lead a rather sedentary 
life with an average of 25% of people across the country reporting that they engage in no physical activity (per The Center for Disease 
Control).    
 
One of the areas of greatest participant growth over the last 10 years is in fitness related activities such as exercise with equipment, 
aerobic exercise and group cycling.  This is also the most volatile area of growth with specific interest areas soaring in popularity for 
a couple of years only to be replaced by a new activity for the coming years. Also, showing particularly strong growth numbers are ice 
hockey and running/jogging while swimming participation remains consistently high despite recent drops in overall numbers.  It is 
significant that many of the activities that can take place in an indoor recreation setting are ranked in the top fifteen in overall 
participation by the National Sporting Goods Association.     
 
Due to the increasing recreational demands, there has been a shortage in most communities of the following spaces: 
 

 Gymnasiums 
 Pools (especially leisure pools) 
 Weight/cardiovascular equipment areas  
 Indoor running/walking tracks 
 Meeting/multipurpose (general program) space 
 Senior’s program space 
 Pre-school and youth space 
 Teen use areas 
 Fieldhouses 

 
Thus, many communities have attempted to include these amenities in public community recreation facilities.  With the growth in 
youth sports and the high demand for school gyms, most communities are experiencing an acute lack of gymnasium space.  
Weight/cardiovascular space is also in high demand and provides a facility with the potential to generate significant revenues.   
 
The success of most recreation departments is dependent on meeting the recreational needs of a variety of individuals.  The fastest 
growing segment of society is the senior population and meeting the needs of this group is especially important now and will only 
grow more so in the coming years.  The Cedar Falls Recreation and Fitness Center is capturing a significant portion of senior fitness 
programming. Insurance based programs such as Silver Sneakers, Silver and Fit are changing the landscape for senior fitness and 
many seniors gravitate to facilities that provide these programs. Indoor walking tracks, exercise areas, pools and classroom spaces 
are important to this age group.  Marketing to the younger more active senior (usually age 55-70) is paramount, as this age group has 
the free time available to participate in leisure activities, the desire to remain fit, and more importantly the disposable income to pay 
for such services. 
 
Youth programming has always been a cornerstone for recreation services and will continue to be so with an increased emphasis on 
teen needs and providing a deterrent to juvenile crime.  With a continuing increase in single parent households and two working parent 
families, the needs of school age children for before and after school child care continues to grow as does the need for preschool 
programming. 
 
As more and more communities attempt to develop community recreation facilities the issues of competition with other providers in 
the market area have inevitably been raised.  The loudest objections have come from the private health club market and their industry 
voice IHRSA.  The private sector has vigorously contended that public facilities unfairly compete with them in the market and have 
spent considerable resources attempting to derail public projects.  However, the reality is that in most markets where public community 
recreation centers have been built, the private sector has not been adversely affected and in fact in many cases has continued to 
grow.  This is due in large part to the fact that public and private providers serve markedly different markets.  One of the other issues 
of competition comes from the non-profit sector (primarily YMCA's but also JCC’s, and others), where the market is much closer to  

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA *

Page 43 

that of the public providers.  While not as vociferous as the private providers, the non-profits have also often expressed concern over 
public community recreation centers. What has resulted from this is a strong growth in the number of partnerships that have occurred 
between the public and non-profit sector in an attempt to bring the best recreation amenities to a community. 
 
  

328

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 078

market analysis, cedar falls area
 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 46 

Non-Sport Participation Statistics:  It is important to note that participation rates in non-sport activities.   While there is not an 
abundance of information available for participation in these types of activities as compared to sport activities, there are statistics that 
can be utilized to help determine the market for cultural arts activities and events.   
 
There are many ways to measure a nation’s cultural vitality.  One way is to chart the public’s involvement with arts events and other 
activities over time.  The NEA’s Survey of Public Participation in the Arts remains the largest periodic study of arts participation in the 
United States.  It tracks various arts activities that Americans (aged 18 and over) report having done in the course of a year.  It also 
asks questions about adults’ preferences for different kinds of music, and it seeks to understand participation in non-arts leisure 
events such as sports and exercise, outdoor activities and civic and social affairs. 
 
The table below highlights the percentage of adult population that have created or preformed art in the past year and an estimate of 
total adult participation. It should be noted that the participants listed below represent people who are finding opportunities to pursue 
their interest in Arts through various locations and programs with the area.   
 
 
Table N – Percentage of Adults Creating or Performing Arts During the Last 12 Months 
 

 Percentage Adult Participation 
Music 5.0% 1,721 

Dance 1.3% 447 

Films/Videos 2.8% 964 

Photos 12.4% 4,268 

Visual Arts 5.7% 1,962 

Scrapbooks 6.5% 2,237 

Creative Writing 5.9% 2,030 

 
  

Table N - Percentage of Adults Creating or Performing Arts During the Last 12 Months

329

Item 2.



079

market analysis, cedar falls area

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 47 

Section IV – Alternative Service Providers 
 
Service Area Providers: There are a number of facilities in the Cedar Falls area that are supplying aquatic, recreation, fitness, and 
sports activities. The following is a brief review of each of the major providers in the area.  
 
Public  
There are a few public community center facilities in relatively proximity to Cedar Falls that offer large community recreation 
centers. Surrounding public facilities include the following: 
 
Western Home – The facility is an assisted living that has a fitness/wellness component on their campus. Western Home allows people 
from the community to join the club who are not residents of their facility.      
 
Waterloo Sportsplex - This is the largest community center in the general area and attracts both individual fitness and recreation 
opportunities and team sports. The facility has a swimming pool that has space for both recreation/leisure and lap swimming activities, 
a large gymnasium, elevated walking/jog track, indoor turf area, cardio equipment area, weight training area, group fitness space and 
multi-purpose room.   
 
Non-Profit  
There are a couple of significant non-profit providers in the Cedar Falls area:  
 

 
YMCA – The YMCA is a full-service facility offering a wide variety of programs and 
services to families, youth, adults and seniors. The YMCA, by virtue of its facilities and 
programs are the closest service provider to the public sector recreation centers in the 
Cedar Falls area.  
 
School District – While limited access restricts most public access the school district does 
provide limited access to their swimming pools and gymnasiums for community 
programming. 

 
University of Northern Iowa – Students and faculty have access to the fitness and pool center on the UNI campus.  
 
 
Private  
Anytime Fitness – A small store front operation that provides limited fitness services. Anytime is open 24/7 and has weight and 
cardio equipment. Anytime Fitness represents the entry level price point for a fitness center. 
 
Snap Fitness – Similar in nature to Anytime Fitness in that the facility if open 24/7 for weight and cardio equipment. Snap Fitness is 
another entry level point in the fitness market 

through the Recreation and Fitness Center.

center and pools on the UNI campus.

330

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 080

market analysis, cedar falls area  

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 48 

 
 
Fit Gym – a private club franchise with three locations in the Cedar Falls area. Fit 
Gym provides a high level of fitness training and classes. Clubs are open 24 hours 
per day and have multiple membership levels that include EFT options. 
 
Planet Fitness – Planet Fitness is another entry level price point that offers a 
larger variety of cardio and weight equipment than Snap Fitness or Anytime 
Fitness.  
 

Orange Theory – Orange Theory is building a new facility in Cedar Falls. This is a national chain that is finding a market niche with 
tech savvy millennials that are looking for a different experience and level of training found through other fitness providers such as 
Anytime Fitness or Snap Fitness. Orange Theory is a coach directed high intensity workout facility designed to maximize the benefits 
and includes heart rate monitors. 
 
Many communities create their own level of service standards by conducting a survey of alternative service providers in their general 
area. This enables the agency to compare membership fees to measure itself to other facilities locally. The table below reflects a fee 
comparison of a local Cedar Falls facilities. 
 
Table O – Fee Comparison 

Local Fee Comparison 

  Sports Plex YMCA Planet Fitness Fit Gym Western Home 
Cedar Falls Rec 

Center 

Adult  $   530.00   $  240.00   $      120.00   $  300.00   $      150.00   $    175.00  

Youth  $   265.00   $  180.00   $      120.00   $  300.00  Not Available  $    115.00  

Senior   $   265.00   $  384.00   $      120.00   $  300.00   $      150.00   $    130.00  

Family  $   795.00   $  660.00  Not Available Not Available Not Available  $    260.00  
 
 
While this comparison illustrates that the Cedar Fall fee structure for membership is lower than the alternative service providers in the 
area, it also suggests that there is a capacity for charging higher membership fees. The opportunity to increase fees must be balanced 
against the local variables and fee elasticity.    

331

Item 2.



081

partnerships

While all partnership projects can be beneficial, taxpayers are 
among those that positively view a partnership involving more than 
one public provider. There are several important conditions where 
partnering projects make sense. Some potential partners were 
identified during preliminary stakeholder meetings conducted in 
Cedar Falls. The potential partnership between the multiple partners 
has merit and makes economic and political sense. The combining 
of resources and the cooperative nature of such a venture are 
commendable. Developing a clear operational philosophy and 
definite priority of use are critical to laying a foundation for any 
partnership agreement. 

The particulars of such an agreement with any of the potential 
partners need to be outlined and clearly addressed in an operations 
contract. The City has a couple of partnership agreements in place. 
One partnership is with the University of Northern Iowa for pool 
usage through 2021. The other prominent partnership for the Cedar 
Falls Recreation and Community Center is with the School District.  
The schools use some of the City outdoor facilities in exchange for 
providing Park and Recreation access to the schools, primarily the 
gymnasiums and swimming pools. Although there is a contract in 
place between the School District and the City it is recommended 
that this contract be reviewed and updated on an annual basis, 
including the value of the reciprocal space use. The length of 
the agreement, parameters of the agreement, method of dealing 
with future capital improvements, facility scheduling, grounds 
maintenance, operations responsibility and insurance coverage 
should be covered by such an agreement. A number of points to 
consider as part of a contractual agreement and pitfalls to avoid are 
outlined in the following below.

Benefits of Partnering 
As the demand for public recreation increases, public organizations 
are increasingly considering new cost-effective methods for 
financing capital and operating costs. While all partnership projects 
can be beneficial, there are several important conditions where 
partnering projects make sense including.

1. Partners have shared/complimentary program needs. 
Partnering is sound public policy when two or more 
organizations have similar/complimentary programming 
needs. These needs are reflected both in facilities that are 

developed and also in activities that take place in the facilities. 
This is the case with the both the School District and NIU. 

2. Partners have resources that benefit each other. Partnering 
is sound public policy when two or more organizations have 
resources that can jointly be leverage in the development and/
or operations of the partnership. Resources, which can be 
beneficial for partnering, include land, existing staff expertise, 
financial capabilities, existing marketing tools, etc. The School 
District and City have resources that could enhance each other. 

3. Partners serve complimentary customer bases. Partnering 
is sound public policy when two or more organizations have 
similar customer bases that can benefit from the partnership. 

4. Partners want to accelerate the pace of facility development. 
Partnering is an extremely valuable mechanism to assist 
partners in accelerating the pace of facility development. The 
leverage of resources, particular financial assets, provides 
an opportunity for funding facilities and/or the enlargement 
of facilities that may not have been otherwise possible. This 
could come into play with discussions between the City and 
School District if the development of a pool moves forward.  

5. Partners have a common tax base. Partnering is viewed as 
particularly valuable to the citizens when the organizations 
have a common tax base. Partnering projects help reduce 
unnecessary duplication of facilities and programs, allowing 
tax dollars to be invested in a very cost-effective manner. 
There is a common tax base. 

6. Customers use facilities at largely complimentary times. 
Partnership projects are particularly beneficial in cases where 
similar customers’ uses are largely at different times. For this 
reason, partnerships between cities and school districts are 
widely used. While each partner has the need for many of the 
same facilities, their prime-time usage needs are generally 
different. This enables such partnership projects to make 
maximum use of built projects for service delivery. It also 
enables the customer experience to be more enjoyable by 
spreading the user base over a longer time period. However, 
school access for Cedar Falls Recreation and Community 

332

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 082

partnerships

Programs and the community at large is greatly restricted 
during normal school hours for security purposes. Access the 
community is also restricted at NIU

7. Partners desire increased opportunities for earning non-tax 
revenue – Partnerships present increased opportunities to 
leverage resources in building facilities that better address 
citizen and customer needs, and therefore for the facility 
to serve larger customer markets. Such facilities afford 
opportunities to substantially increase revenues from fees 
and charges. 

Potential Challenges and Pitfalls of Partnering 
Successful partnership requires commitment on behalf of all 
partner organizations. As with any funding program, there are 
potential risks in partnering that need to be carefully avoided. 
Some of the major potential challenges and pitfalls to successful 
partnering projects are as follows:

1. Partnerships require a higher level of coordination – Partnerships 
require managers and management agreements and policies 
that can meet the needs of multiple organizations. Partnering 
means sharing and this is accomplished through a high degree 
of carefully planned cooperation. The management of multiple 
program spaces is always a scheduling challenge. The need 
to serve two or more organizations that require on going 
service makes the task even more challenging. Partnership 
agreements need to adequately address coordination and 
management issues and methods for resolving potential 
conflicts.

2. Partners can reduce each partner’s ability to react to changing 
market conditions – Similarly to what occurs with other 
customer markets, the usage of program spaces being 
planned may substantially change over the useful life of these 
spaces. Partnerships that are rigid in their language can 
negatively impact the ability of each partner to react to these 
changing customer needs. Additionally, and equally important, 
partnership agreements need to contain language that allows 
for accurate measurement of costs for providing partnership 
services. Cost will change and methods of joint funding of 

these changing costs (based on benefits received) need to be 
built into the contract agreement. Even the best partnership 
agreements will not cover everything. Language needs to be 
built into the agreement that provides on-going evaluation of 
the partnerships performance in addressing citizen needs and 
provides opportunities to adapt positively to change.

3. Partners may not live up to their resource commitment – For 
a partnership to be successful, each party must deliver on 
their commitment. Partners need to have the short term and 
long-term ability to deliver what they have identified in the 
contract. There also needs to be a fall back provision should 
some costs occur (capital or operations) that prove to be larger 
than originally estimated. This can particularly occur in facility 
operations, with the demand for increasing levels of customer 
services. Last, fee policies and revenue should relate to actual 
program costs and be increased as costs increase. Should that 
not occur, the partners will have increased pressure on their 
limited resources.

4. Partners inability to deliver high quality services – Partners will 
be measured by the degree of customer satisfaction enjoyed 
by visitors to the facility, regardless of who is providing the 
service. The contract agreement needs to contain language 
that adequately addresses service delivery and methods for 
the timely correction of service quality issues.

5. Partnerships negatively impact on developing other positive 
relationships – Partnerships should always be entered into with 
the most important partner first. At the same time, partnership 
agreements should not unfairly restrict either party’s ability 
to enter into an agreement that can save taxpayers money 
and provide increased levels of service delivery. Language 
needs to be contained in the contract document that allows 
for consideration of additional partners and the factors under 
which such potential partners will be evaluated.

6. Partnerships reduce revenue – While partnership projects 
effectively leverage resources, they do need resources. 
Therefore, the benefits of the partnership and the use of 
resources have to be weighted as it relates to other projects/

333

Item 2.



083

partnerships

initiatives that may not occur. Simply stated, the project 
still needs to be viewed by citizens as a wise use of those 
resources that are allocated.

7. Partnerships can result in lengthy and costly legal 
entanglement – The worst problem in partnerships can land in 
court or wrapped up in legal entanglements. To prevent legal 
entanglements, agreements need to contain clear language 
for addressing disputes that all parties agree and abide by. 
Exit clauses should be contained in the agreement, in the 
extreme cases where a partner wants to get out of all parts 
of the partnership. This is particularly important as it relates 
to issues involving the useful life and costs of maintaining 
capital assets. 

Partnership summary of preliminary findings
There are many of the positive elements listed above that exists 
between the City and School District for continued partnering. These 
include; partners having shared and complementary program needs 
and partners have resources that benefit each other. Additionally, 
the potential partners serve a complimentary customer base and 
have a common tax base.

Nationally, the YMCA is active in exploring partnerships with 
municipalities that are considering building a new community center. 
One of the biggest challenges facing the YMCA today is fundraising 
for capital projects. Collaboration helps the YMCA overcome 
the challenges of fundraising while the YMCA brings a level of 
management and operational experience. YMCA collaboratives 
seem to work best in an environment without a strong Parks and 
Recreation entity. In some cases, the YMCA operates some portions 
of the building while the municipality operates other portions of the 
building. Given the strength of programming and scope of the Cedar 
Falls Recreation and Program resources the prospects of this type 
of partners is very slim. 

The School District and City are potential partners in the development 
of an aquatic facility but there are overlapping programming 
duplications that need to be resolved along with operational control 
and public access if a partnership is pursued.  

Governance is a critical issue facing the partnerships. The ability to 
create a governance model that can be embraced by the partners 
could be a challenge. The governance model must work for all the 
parties and will undoubtedly require compromise by the partners to 
reach a solution. 

334

Item 2.



This page is intentionally blank. 335

Item 2.



085

program assessment

The Cedar Falls Recreation and Programs has a strong foundation 
of facilities, programs and services. The Department offers a wide 
range of activities and programs throughout the year. A program 
guide is developed several times per year to educate the community 
about programming opportunities. The consulting team conducted 
a benchmark comparison of the alternative service providers in the 
Cedar Falls area along with collecting information from other cities 
of similar size and region of the country.

Many communities create their own level of service standards by 
conducting a benchmark survey of other departments of similar 
size or location. This enables the agency to select the communities 

it wishes to compare itself to while taking regional interest into 
account. The table below reflects the outcome of a comparison 
of Cedar Falls facilities to other area municipalities. The Parks 
and Recreation Staff helped identify and collect information for 
inclusion in the benchmark survey. Recreation facilities in Cedar 
Falls compare favorably to the other area communities of Ankeny, 
Ames, Dubuque, Marion and Coralville.  These communities were 
selected given their location and proximity to Cedar Falls along with 
similar population and demographics. This comparison concludes 
that Cedar Falls is at or above the composite average of the other 
communities in Iowa, clearly illustrating that Cedar Falls rises above 
the other communities in this benchmark comparison. 

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 52 

Section VI – Program Assessment 
 
The Cedar Falls Recreation and Programs has a strong foundation of facilities, programs and services. The Department offers a wide 
range of activities and programs throughout the year. A program guide is developed several times per year to educate the community 
about programming opportunities. The consulting team conducted a benchmark comparison of the alternative service providers in the 
Cedar Falls area along with collecting information from other cities of similar size and region of the country. 
 
Many communities create their own level of service standards by conducting a benchmark survey of other departments of similar size 
or location. This enables the agency to select the communities it wishes to compare itself to while taking regional interest into account. 
The table below reflects the outcome of a comparison of Cedar Falls facilities to other area municipalities. The Parks and Recreation 
Staff helped identify and collect information for inclusion in the benchmark survey. Recreation facilities in Cedar Falls compare 
favorably to the other area communities of Ankeny, Ames, Dubuque, Marion and Coralville.  These communities were selected given 
their location and proximity to Cedar Falls along with similar population and demographics. This comparison concludes that Cedar 
Falls is at or above the composite average of the other communities in Iowa, clearly illustrating that Cedar Falls rises above the other 
communities in this benchmark comparison.  
 
  

Benchmark Comparison 

Component   Ames Ankeny Coralville Dubuque Marion Average Cedar Falls 

Gymnasium   1 0 5 0 0 1.2 2 

Outdoor Pool   1 2 1 2 1 1.4 1 

Indoor Pool   1 0 1 0 0 0.4 2 

Ice Rink   1 0 0 0 0 0.2 0 

Community Center   1 0 1 1 1 0.6 1 

Senior Center   0 1 1 1 0 0.6 1 

Source: IPRA Agency Members 
 
 
Additionally, the consulting team compared the Recreation Department facilities to the national level. National Recreation and Parks 
Association (NRPA) developed a level of service standards for Parks and Recreation agencies. It must be remembered that the NRPA 
Field Study published in 2016, represents a composite average of responding agencies. Although the NRPA does not represent a 
national standard, they do provide a benchmark comparison to measure against the inventory of City facilities. It should be noted that 
school facilities have not been incorporated into the Cedar Falls facilities. Looking at the inventory of facilities from a community-wide 
perspective illustrates that other agencies are providing recreation space that supplement the Cedar Falls facilities and identifies other 
agencies as contributors to the recreation needs of the community.  

The table below compares the recommended number of facilities based on population to the number of facilities in Cedar Falls to 
identify any surplus or deficiencies in facilities. A column has been added to the table that accounts for the community-wide inventory 
of recreation facilities.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

336

Item 2.



Cedar Falls Recreation & Fitness Center, Operations & Facility Needs Assessment 086

program assessment

Additionally, the consulting team compared the Recreation 
Department facilities to the national level. National Recreation and 
Parks Association (NRPA) developed a level of service standards 
for Parks and Recreation agencies. It must be remembered that 
the NRPA Field Study published in 2016, represents a composite 
average of responding agencies. Although the NRPA does not 
represent a national standard, they do provide a benchmark 
comparison to measure against the inventory of City facilities. It 
should be noted that school facilities have not been incorporated 
into the Cedar Falls facilities. Looking at the inventory of facilities 
from a community-wide perspective illustrates that other agencies 
are providing recreation space that supplement the Cedar Falls 
facilities and identifies other agencies as contributors to the 
recreation needs of the community. 

The table below compares the recommended number of facilities 
based on population to the number of facilities in Cedar Falls to 
identify any surplus or deficiencies in facilities. A column has been 
added to the table that accounts for the community-wide inventory 
of recreation facilities. 

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 53 

NRPA Level of Service (LOS) 
          

NRPA Standard 1,000 
Population Facility by Type NRPA LOS City Owned  

Community Wide (non-
City owned)  

1/30,000 Community Center 1.37 1 0 

1/26,650 Recreation Center 1.54 1 0 

1/26,418 Gymnasium 1.56 2 23 

1/49,500 Senior Center .83 1 0 

1/49,715 Indoor Track .83 1 0 

1/34,686 Outdoor Pool 1.18 1 0 

 
Based on the NRPA standards, the Recreation Department is near the NRPA level for indoor facilities when using that as a benchmark.  
 
 
 
 
 
  

Based on the NRPA standards, the Recreation Department is near the NRPA level for indoor facilities when using that as a benchmark.

337

Item 2.



087

program assessment

END OF REPORT
Appendix is published under separate cover. 

095

program assessment

Many communities go beyond the NRPA Level of Service Standards 
to create their own level of service standards by conducting a 
survey of alternative service providers of similar size or location. 

 

 

Market Analysis 
Cedar Falls, IA 

  

Page 6 

 

NRPA Level of Service (LOS) 
              

NRPA Standard 1,000 
Population Facility by Type NRPA LOS City Owned  

Community Wide (non-
City owned)  

1/30,000 Community Center 1.37 1 0 

1/26,650 Recreation Center 1.54 1 0 

1/26,418 Gymnasium 1.56 2 23 

1/49,500 Senior Center .83 1 0 

1/49,715 Indoor Track .83 1 0 

1/34,686 Outdoor Pool 1.18 1 0 

 
Based on the NRPA standards, the Recreation Department is near the NRPA level for indoor facilities when using that as a benchmark.  
 
Many communities go beyond the NRPA Level of Service Standards to create their own level of service standards by conducting a 
survey of alternative service providers of similar size or location. This enables the agency to compare membership fees to measure 
itself to other facilities locally. The table below reflects a fee comparison of a local Cedar Falls facilities. 
 

Local Fee Comparison 

  Sports Plex YMCA Planet Fitness Fit Gym 
Western Home 
(Resident Only) 

Cedar Falls 
Rec Center 

Adult  $   530.00   $  240.00   $      120.00   $  300.00   $      150.00   $    175.00  

Youth  $   265.00   $  180.00   $      120.00   $  300.00  Not Available  $    115.00  

Senior   $   265.00   $  384.00   $      120.00   $  300.00   $      150.00   $    130.00  

Family  $   795.00   $  660.00  Not Available Not Available Not Available  $    260.00  

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

This enables the agency to compare membership fees to measure
itself to other facilities locally. The table below reflects a fee 
comparison of a local Cedar Falls facilities.

END OF REPORT
Appendix is published under separate cover. 

338

Item 2.



This page is intentionally blank. 339

Item 2.



340

Item 3.



341

Item 3.



342

Item 3.



343

Item 3.



344

Item 3.



345

Item 3.



346

Item 3.



347

Item 3.



348

Item 3.



349

Item 3.



350

Item 3.



351

Item 3.



352

Item 3.



353

Item 3.



354

Item 3.



355

Item 3.



356

Item 3.



357

Item 3.



358

Item 3.



359

Item 3.



360

Item 3.



361

Item 3.



362

Item 3.



363

Item 3.



364

Item 3.



365

Item 3.



366

Item 3.



367

Item 3.



368

Item 3.



369

Item 3.



370

Item 3.



371

Item 3.



372

Item 3.



373

Item 3.



374

Item 3.



375

Item 3.



376

Item 3.



377

Item 3.



378

Item 3.



379

Item 3.



380

Item 3.



381

Item 3.



382

Item 3.



383

Item 3.



384

Item 3.



385

Item 3.



386

Item 3.



387

Item 3.



388

Item 3.



389

Item 3.



390

Item 3.



391

Item 3.



392

Item 3.



393

Item 3.



394

Item 3.



395

Item 3.



396

Item 3.



397

Item 3.



398

Item 3.



399

Item 3.



400

Item 3.



401

Item 3.



402

Item 3.



403

Item 3.



404

Item 3.



405

Item 3.



406

Item 3.



407

Item 3.



408

Item 3.



409

Item 3.



410

Item 3.



411

Item 3.



412

Item 3.



413

Item 3.



414

Item 3.



415

Item 3.



416

Item 3.



417

Item 3.



418

Item 3.



419

Item 3.



420

Item 3.



421

Item 3.



422

Item 3.



423

Item 3.



424

Item 3.



425

Item 3.



426

Item 3.


	Top
	1. FY2019 Audit Report
	Audit report council memo
	FY2019_CedarFalls_CAFR
	FY2019 Audit Mgmt Letter
	FY2019 Federal Financial Report

	2. Recreation and Fitness Center, Operations and Facility Needs Assessment
	1- Memo-Rec Center Study
	2 - Power Point
	3 - Exec Study Report

	3. Bills
	1 Daily Invoices 111819
	2 Council Invoices 111819

	Bottom

